NEUSTAR INC Form 10-Q October 30, 2013 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

 \circ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to Commission file number 001-32548

NeuStar, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
21575 Ridgetop Circle
Sterling, Virginia 20166
(Address of principal executive offices) (zip code)
(571) 434-5400
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

52-2141938 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \circ No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T ($^{\circ}$ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes \circ No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer", and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer ý Accelerated filer "

Non-accelerated filer "(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes " No \circ

There were 62,615,875 shares of Class A common stock, \$0.001 par value, and 3,082 shares of Class B common stock, \$0.001 par value, outstanding at October 24, 2013.

Table of Contents

NEUSTAR, INC.

INDEX

PART I FIN	NANCIAL INFORMATION	<u>3</u>
Item 1.	Financial Statements	<u>3</u>
	Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013 (unaudited)	<u>3</u>
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations for three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013	<u>5</u>
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013	<u>1</u> 6
	<u>Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2012</u> and 2013	7
	Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>8</u>
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>34</u>
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>45</u>
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>45</u>
PART II O	THER INFORMATION	<u>46</u>
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>46</u>
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	<u>46</u>
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>57</u>
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	<u>58</u>
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	<u>58</u>
Item 5.	Other Information	<u>58</u>
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>58</u>
Signatures		
EX – 31.1 EX – 31.2 EX – 32.1 EX – 101 II	NSTANCE DOCUMENT	

- EX 101 SCHEMA DOCUMENT
- EX 101 CALCULATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT
- EX 101 LABELS LINKBASE DOCUMENT
- EX 101 PRESENTATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT
- EX 101 DEFINITION LINBASE DOCUMENT

Table of Contents

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

	December 31, 2012	September 30, 2013 (unaudited)
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$340,255	\$352,714
Restricted cash	2,543	1,858
Short-term investments	3,666	_
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$2,161 and \$2,266, respectively	131,805	142,130
Unbilled receivables	6,372	12,927
Notes receivable	2,740	1,601
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	17,707	20,335
Deferred costs	7,379	6,873
Income taxes receivable	6,596	4,324
Deferred tax assets	6,693	5,285
Total current assets	525,756	548,047
Property and equipment, net	118,513	111,541
Goodwill	572,178	576,038
Intangible assets, net	288,487	257,492
Notes receivable, long-term	1,008	_
Other assets, long-term	20,782	25,585
Total assets	\$1,526,724	\$1,518,703
See accompanying notes.		

Table of Contents

NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

	December 31, 2012	September 30, 2013 (unaudited)	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		(unadanca)	
Current liabilities:			
Accounts payable	\$9,269	\$5,730	
Accrued expenses	85,424	79,187	
Deferred revenue	49,070	49,343	
Notes payable	8,125	7,972	
Capital lease obligations	1,686	572	
Other liabilities	3,856	2,826	
Total current liabilities	157,430	145,630	
Deferred revenue, long-term	9,922	10,020	
Notes payable, long-term	576,688	610,285	
Capital lease obligations, long-term	817	245	
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term	114,130	103,545	
Other liabilities, long-term	21,129	22,264	
Total liabilities	880,116	891,989	
Commitments and contingencies	_	_	
Stockholders' equity:			
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized	; no shares		
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and September 3		<u> </u>	
Class A common stock, par value \$0.001; 200,000,000 shares aut	thorized;		
85,958,791 and 87,000,157 shares issued; and 66,171,702 and 63	XD	87	
shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 and September 30, 201	3,	07	
respectively			
Class B common stock, par value \$0.001; 100,000,000 shares aut			
3,082 and 3,082 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2	:012 and —	_	
September 30, 2013, respectively			
Additional paid-in capital	532,743	585,282	
Treasury stock, 19,787,089 and 23,806,464 shares at December 3 September 30, 2013, respectively, at cost	31, 2012 and (604,042) (800,737)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(767) (1,207)
Retained earnings	718,588	843,289	
Total stockholders' equity	646,608	626,714	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$1,526,724	\$1,518,703	
See accompanying notes.			

NEUSTAR, INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (in thousands, except per share data)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months September 3	
	2012	2013	2012	2013
Revenue:				
Carrier Services	\$125,202	\$139,477	\$375,922	\$406,381
Enterprise Services	43,630	44,896	125,204	133,466
Information Services	42,340	43,260	116,090	124,552
Total revenue	211,172	227,633	617,216	664,399
Operating expense:				
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and	46 220	51 424	127 264	150.050
amortization shown separately below)	46,339	51,434	137,364	150,950
Sales and marketing	38,040	40,253	117,466	124,468
Research and development	7,663	7,196	23,483	22,296
General and administrative	20,915	23,751	61,999	66,757
Depreciation and amortization	23,622	24,586	69,041	73,941
Restructuring (recoveries) charges	(32) —	492	2
	136,547	147,220	409,845	438,414
Income from operations	74,625	80,413	207,371	225,985
Other (expense) income:				
Interest and other expense	(8,517) (5,496) (25,114) (28,851)
Interest and other income	140	64	479	292
Income before income taxes	66,248	74,981	182,736	197,426
Provision for income taxes	20,495	27,442	64,429	72,725
Net income	\$45,753	\$47,539	\$118,307	\$124,701
Net income per share:				
Basic	\$0.69	\$0.74	\$1.77	\$1.91
Diluted	\$0.68	\$0.73	\$1.74	\$1.87
Weighted average common shares outstanding:				
Basic	66,523	63,978	66,880	65,223
Diluted	67,623	65,510	67,961	66,713
See accompanying notes.				

NEUSTAR, INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (in thousands)

	Three Mon September	30,		Nine Month September	30,	
	2012	2013		2012	2013	
Net income	\$45,753	\$47,539		\$118,307	\$124,701	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:						
Available for sale investments, net of tax:						
Change in net unrealized gains, net of tax of \$(21), \$61, \$(64)	33	(93)	91	(198)
and \$128, respectively						
Reclassification for gains included in net income		_		_		
Net change in unrealized gains on investments, net of tax	33	(93)	91	(198)
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax:						
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of \$(96), \$(40) \$(414) and \$28, respectively	74	39		58	(242)
Reclassification adjustment included in net income	_			_	_	
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax	74	39		58	(242)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	107	(54)	149	(440)
Comprehensive income	\$45,860	\$47,485		\$118,456	\$124,261	
See accompanying notes.						

NEUSTAR, INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

	Nine Months Ended		
	September 30,		
	2012	2013	
Operating activities:			
Net income	\$118,307	\$124,701	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating			
activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	69,041	73,941	
Stock-based compensation	19,987	27,675	
Loss on debt modification and extinguishment		10,886	
Amortization of deferred financing costs and original issue discount on debt	3,020	2,551	
Excess tax benefits from stock option exercises	(7,688) (7,097)
Deferred income taxes	(3,952) (9,534)
Provision for doubtful accounts	3,117	4,343	
Amortization of investment premium (discount), net	420	123	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	(45,383) (15,998)
Unbilled receivables	(1,662) (6,555)
Notes receivable	2,073	2,147	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	11,797	(2,133)
Income taxes receivable	42,282	9,369	
Other assets	870	332	
Other liabilities	(2,701) 441	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(14,425) (3,916)
Deferred revenue	6,266	(254)
Net cash provided by operating activities	201,369	211,022	
Investing activities:	,	•	
Purchases of property and equipment	(35,630) (35,259)
Sales and maturities of investments	5,968	3,543	
Purchases of investments	(1,494) —	
Business acquired		(8,500)
Net cash used in investing activities	(31,156) (40,216)
Financing activities:			
Decrease of restricted cash	3	685	
Proceeds from notes payable, net of discount	_	624,244	
Extinguishment of note payable	_	(592,500)
Debt issuance costs	_	(11,410)
Payments under notes payable obligations	(4,500) (6,094)
Principal repayments on capital lease obligations	(2,886) (1,686)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options	52,085	18,225	
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	7,688	7,097	
Repurchase of restricted stock awards	(9,631) (6,861)
Repurchase of common stock	(73,803) (189,834)
Net cash used in financing activities	(31,044) (158,134)
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents	(357) (213)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	138,812	12,459	,
•	•	•	

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 122,237 340,255
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period \$261,049 \$352,714
See accompanying notes.

Table of Contents
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATION

NeuStar, Inc. (the Company or Neustar) is a trusted provider of real-time information and analysis using proprietary and hard to replicate data sets. The Company's customers use its services for commercial insights that help them promote and protect their businesses. The Company combines proprietary, third party and customer data sets to develop unique algorithms, models, point solutions and complete work flow solutions. Among other things, chief marketing, security, information and operating officers use these real-time insights to identify who or what is at the other end of a transaction, the geographic context of a transaction and the most appropriate response. The Company provides its services in a trusted and neutral manner. The Company's customers access its databases through standard connections, which the Company believes is the most efficient and cost effective way to exchange operationally essential data in a secured environment that does not favor any particular customer or technology. Today the Company primarily serves customers in the Internet, telecommunications, technology, financial services, retail, and media and advertising verticals.

The Company was founded to meet the technical and operational challenges of the communications industry when the U.S. government mandated local number portability in 1996. The Company provides the authoritative solution that the communications industry relies upon to meet this mandate. Since then, the Company has grown to offer a broad range of innovative services, including database services (telephone number databases, domain names, short-codes and fixed IP addresses), analytics platforms used for Internet security services, caller identification services, web performance monitoring services and real-time information and analytics services.

The Company provides the North American communications industry with real-time information that enables the dynamic routing of virtually all telephone calls and text messages among competing carriers in the United States and Canada. The Company's internet and eCommerce customers use its broad array of domain name systems (DNS) solutions to resolve internet queries in a timely manner and to protect their businesses from malicious attacks. The Company also provides a broad suite of solutions that allows its customers to generate marketing leads, offer more relevant services and improve client conversion rates.

The Company categorizes its services into three reportable segments:

Carrier Services. The Company's carrier services include numbering services, order management services and IP services. Through its set of unique databases and system infrastructure in geographically dispersed data centers, the Company manages the increasing complexity in the communications industry and ensures the seamless connection of its carrier customers' numerous networks, while also enhancing the capabilities and performance of their infrastructure. The Company operates the authoritative databases that manage virtually all telephone area codes and numbers, and enables the dynamic routing of calls and text messages among numerous competing carriers in the United States and Canada. All carriers that offer telecommunications services to the public at large in the United States and Canada must access a copy of the Company's unique database to properly route their customers' calls and text messages. The Company also facilitates order management and work-flow processing among carriers, and allows operators to manage and optimize the addressing and routing of IP communications.

Enterprise Services. The Company's enterprise services include Internet infrastructure services (IIS) and registry services. Through the Company's global directory platform, the Company provides a suite of DNS services to its enterprise customers. The Company manages a collection of directories that maintain addresses in order to direct, prioritize and manage Internet traffic, and to find and resolve Internet queries and top-level domains. The Company is the authoritative provider of essential registry services and manages directories of similar resources, or addresses, that its customers use for reliable, fair and secure access and connectivity. In addition, enterprise customers rely on the Company's services to monitor and load-test websites to help identify issues and optimize performance. The Company also provides fixed IP geolocation services that help enterprises identify the location of their online consumers for a variety of purposes, including fraud prevention and marketing. Additionally, the Company provides directory services for the 5- and 6-digit number strings used for all U.S. Common Short Codes, which is part of the short messaging

service relied upon by the U.S. wireless industry. The Company also operates the user authentication and rights management system, which supports the UltraViolet digital content locker that consumers can use to access to their entertainment content.

Table of Contents
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

Information Services. The Company's information services include on-demand solutions that help carriers and enterprises identify, verify, evaluate and locate customers and prospective customers. The Company's authoritative databases and solutions enable its clients to return the caller name associated with the calling phone number and to make informed decisions in real time about consumer-initiated interactions on the Internet, over the telephone and at the point of sale, by correlating consumer identifier information with attributes such as demographics, buying behavior surveys and location. This allows the Company's customers to offer consumers more relevant services and products, and leads to higher client conversion rates. Using the Company's proprietary databases, the Company's online display advertising solution allows marketers to display, in real time, advertisements that will be most relevant to online consumers without the need for online behavioral tracking.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full fiscal year. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date, but does not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 (the 2012 Form 10-K) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions are inherent in the analysis and the measurement of deferred tax assets; the identification and quantification of income tax liabilities due to uncertain tax positions; recoverability of intangible assets, other long-lived assets and goodwill; and the determination of the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and assumptions that it believes are reasonable. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic Financial Instruments requires disclosures of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate that value. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts reported in the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements approximate the fair value for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses. The Company determines the fair value of its investments using third-party pricing sources, which primarily use a consensus price or weighted average price for the fair value assessment. The consensus price is determined by using matrix prices from a variety of industry standard pricing services, data providers, large financial institutions and other third party sources and utilizing those matrix prices as inputs into a distribution-curve-based algorithm to determine the estimated market value. Matrix prices are based on quoted prices for securities with similar terms (i.e., coupon rate, maturity, credit rating) (see Note 4). The Company believes the carrying value of its notes receivable approximates fair value as the interest rate approximates a market rate. The Company believes the carrying value of its \$325 million senior secured

term loan facility (2013 Term Facility) approximates the fair value of the debt as the terms and interest rates approximate market rates (see Note 6). The Company determines the fair value of its \$300 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% senior notes due 2013 (Senior Notes) using a secondary market price on the last trading day in each period as quoted by Bloomberg (see Note 6).

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

The estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2012		September 30, 2013	
	Carrying Amount	Fair Value	Carrying Amount	Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents	\$340,255	\$340,255	\$352,714	\$352,714
Restricted cash (current assets)	2,543	2,543	1,858	1,858
Short-term investments	3,666	3,666	_	
Notes receivable (including current portion)	3,748	3,748	1,601	1,601
Marketable securities (other assets, long-term)	4,458	4,458	3,491	3,491
Deferred compensation (other liabilities, long-term)	3,874	3,874	3,599	3,599
2011 Term Facility (including current portion, net o discount)	of 584,813	584,813	_	_
2013 Term Facility (including current portion, net o discount)	of	_	318,257	318,257
Senior Notes (including current portion)	_		300,000	272,063

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013, cash of \$2.5 million and \$1.9 million, respectively, was restricted for deposits on leased facilities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) — Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. This update requires the presentation, either in a single note or parenthetically on the face of the financial statements, of the effect of significant amounts reclassified from each component of accumulated other comprehensive income based on its source and the income statement line items affected by the reclassification. This ASU is effective prospectively for the Company for annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2013. The adoption of the amended accounting guidance in the first quarter of 2013 impacted the Company's presentation of other comprehensive income and did not have an impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations.

3. INVESTMENTS

The Company's investments were comprised of pre-refunded municipal bonds, secured by an escrow fund of U.S. Treasury securities. These investments were accounted for as available-for-sale securities in the Company's consolidated balance sheet pursuant to the Investments - Debt and Equity Securities Topic of the FASB ASC. As of December 31, 2012, both the amortized cost and estimated fair value of the investments were \$3.7 million. The Company had no investments as of September 30, 2013.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, the Company sold approximately \$3.6 million and \$6.0 million, respectively, of available-for-sale securities and recognized minimal gains for both periods. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company sold approximately \$1.4 million and \$3.5 million, respectively, of available-for-sale securities and recognized minimal gains for both periods. The Company did not record any impairment charges related to these investments during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013.

Table of Contents
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received in the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure Topic of FASB ASC establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value and requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

- Level 1. Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets;
- Level 2. Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and Level 3. Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company evaluates assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring and non-recurring basis to determine the appropriate level at which to classify them for each reporting period. This determination requires the Company to make significant judgments.

The Company determines the fair value of its investments using third-party pricing sources, which primarily use a consensus price or weighted average price for the fair value assessment. The consensus price is determined by using matrix prices from a variety of industry standard pricing services, data providers, large financial institutions and other third party sources and utilizing those multiple prices as inputs into a distribution-curve-based algorithm to determine the estimated market value. Matrix prices are based on quoted prices for securities with similar terms (i.e., coupon rate, maturity, credit rating). The Company corroborates consensus prices provided by third party pricing sources using reported trade activity, benchmark yield curves, binding broker/dealer quotes or other relevant price information.

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013, the Company's financial and non-financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by level within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

	December 31, 2012			
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Municipal bonds (maturities less than one year)	\$	\$3,666	\$	\$3,666
Marketable securities ⁽¹⁾	4,458		_	4,458
Total	\$4,458	\$3,666	\$ —	\$8,124
	September 3	30, 2013		
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Marketable securities ⁽¹⁾	\$3,491	\$ —	\$ —	\$3,491

The NeuStar, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (the Plan) provides directors and certain employees with the ability (1)to defer a portion of their compensation. The assets of the Plan are invested in marketable securities held in a Rabbi Trust and reported at market value in other assets.

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

5. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On May 2, 2013, the Company acquired certain assets of a service order administrative business. Total consideration for this purchase included cash consideration of \$10.0 million, of which \$8.5 million was paid on closing and \$1.5 million was retained by the Company as a reserve fund for satisfaction of potential indemnification claims. The transaction was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the Business Combinations Topic of the FASB ASC and the results of operations have been included within the Carrier Services segment in the Company's consolidated statement of operations since the date of the acquisition. Of the total purchase price, the Company recorded \$6.1 million of definite-lived intangible assets and \$3.9 million of goodwill. Goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Goodwill

The Company's goodwill by operating segment as of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013 is as follows (in thousands):

	December 31, 2012	Acquisition	September 30, 2013	
Carrier Services:				
Gross goodwill	\$222,355	\$3,860	\$226,215	
Accumulated impairments	(93,602)		(93,602)
Net goodwill	128,753	3,860	132,613	
Enterprise Services:				
Gross goodwill	16,198		16,198	
Accumulated impairments				
Net goodwill	16,198		16,198	
Information Services:				
Gross goodwill	427,227		427,227	
Accumulated impairments				
Net goodwill	427,227		427,227	
Total:				
Gross goodwill	665,780	3,860	669,640	
Accumulated impairments	(93,602)		(93,602)
Net goodwill	\$572,178	\$3,860	\$576,038	
12				

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

	December 31, 2012	September 30, 2013	Weighted- Average Amortization Period (in years)
Intangible assets:	¢215 000	ф2 2 0 020	7.0
Customer lists and relationships	\$315,098	\$320,939	7.9
Accumulated amortization	(69,526) (97,006)
Customer lists and relationships, net	245,572	223,933	
Acquired technology	58,859	59,060	4.8
Accumulated amortization	(20,387) (28,172)
Acquired technology, net	38,472	30,888	
Trade name	7,630	7,630	3.0
Accumulated amortization	(3,187) (5,045)
Trade name, net	4,443	2,585	
Non-compete agreement	_	100	3.0
Non-compete agreement amortization	_	(14)
Non-compete agreement, net	_	86	
Intangible assets, net	\$288,487	\$257,492	

Amortization expense related to intangible assets, which is included in depreciation and amortization expense, was approximately \$12.6 million and \$12.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively, and \$37.7 million and \$37.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and thereafter is expected to be approximately \$49.4 million, \$48.7 million, \$46.7 million, \$44.9 million, \$36.4 million and \$68.5 million, respectively. Intangible assets as of September 30, 2013 will be fully amortized during the year ended December 31, 2021.

6. NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable consist of the following (in thousands):

	December 31,	September 30,
	2012	2013
2011 Term Facility (net of discount)	\$584,813	\$ —
2013 Term Facility (net of discount)		318,257
Senior Notes		300,000
Total	584,813	618,257
Less: current portion, net of discount	(8,125) (7,972
Long-term portion	\$576,688	\$610,285
Debt Refinancing		

As of December 31, 2012, the Company's outstanding borrowings, net of discount, under its credit facility were \$584.8 million. This credit facility provided for: (1) a \$600 million senior secured term loan facility (2011 Term Facility); (2) a \$100 million senior secured revolving credit facility (2011 Revolving Facility and together with the 2011 Term Facility, the 2011 Credit Facilities). As of December 31, 2012, available borrowings under the 2011 Revolving Facility were \$92.2 million.

On January 22, 2013, the Company entered into a credit facility that provided for a \$325 million senior secured term loan facility (2013 Term Facility) and a \$200 million senior secured revolving credit facility (2013 Revolving Facility,

and together with the 2013 Term Facility, the 2013 Credit Facilities). In addition, the Company closed an offering of \$300 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes (Senior Notes). The Company used the proceeds received from the 2013 Term Facility and

<u>Table of Contents</u>
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

Senior Notes to repay its outstanding principal borrowings of \$592.5 million under the 2011 Term Facility. The Company used available borrowings under the 2013 Revolving Facility to secure outstanding letters of credit totaling \$7.8 million that were previously secured by the 2011 Revolving Facility. The 2011 Credit Facilities were terminated in connection with this refinancing event.

Certain investors of the 2011 Credit Facilities reinvested in either or both of the 2013 Credit Facilities and Senior Notes and the change in the present value of future cash flows between the investments was less than 10%. Accordingly, the Company accounted for this refinancing event for these investors as a debt modification. Certain investors of the 2011 Credit Facilities either did not invest in the 2013 Credit Facilities or Senior Notes or the change in the present value of future cash flows between the investments was greater than 10%. Accordingly, the Company accounted for this refinancing event for these investors as a debt extinguishment. In applying debt modification accounting, during the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company recorded \$25.8 million in loan origination fees and deferred financing costs, of which \$16.9 million related to investors of the 2011 Credit Facilities that reinvested in either or both of the 2013 Credit Facilities and Senior Notes. This amount is being amortized into interest expense over the term of the 2013 Credit Facilities and Senior Notes using the effective interest method. In addition, the Company recorded \$10.9 million in interest and other expense, comprised of \$9.4 million in loss on debt extinguishment and \$1.5 million in debt modification expense, in connection with this refinancing event.

The 2013 Credit Facilities include: (1) the 2013 Term Facility; (2) the 2013 Revolving Facility, of which (a) \$100 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit and (b) \$25 million is available as a swingline subfacility; and (3) incremental term loan facilities in an amount such that after giving effect to the incurrence of any such incremental loans, either (a) the aggregate amount of incremental loans does not exceed \$400 million or (b) the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2013 Credit Facilities) on a pro forma basis after giving effect to any such increase would not exceed 2.50 to 1.00. The 2013 Revolving Facility and 2013 Term Facility mature on January 22, 2018. As of September 30, 2013, the Company had not borrowed any amounts under the 2013 Revolving Facility and available borrowings were \$192.0 million, exclusive of outstanding letters of credit totaling \$8.0 million. Principal payments under the 2013 Term Facility are as follows (in thousands):

2013	\$8,125
2014	8,125
2015	8,125
2016	8,125
2017	8,125
Thereafter	284,375
Total principal payments	\$325,000

Principal payments under the 2013 Term Facility of \$2.0 million are due on the last day of the quarter beginning on March 31, 2013 and ending on December 31, 2017. The remaining 2013 Term Facility principal balance of \$284.4 million is due in full on January 22, 2018, subject to early mandatory prepayments.

The loans outstanding under the 2013 Credit Facilities (Loans) bear interest, at the Company's option, either: (1) at the base rate, which is defined as the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the interest rate published by the Wall Street Journal from time to time as the "U.S. Prime Rate" and (c) the adjusted LIBOR rate for a one-month interest period beginning on such day plus 1.00%; or (2) at the LIBOR rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The applicable margin is (1) if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is less than 2.00:1.00, 0.50% per annum for borrowings based on the base rate and 1.50% per annum for borrowings based on the LIBOR rate, or (2) if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is 2.00:1.00 or greater, 0.75% per annum for borrowings based on the base rate and 1.75% per annum borrowings based on the LIBOR rate. The accrued interest under the 2013 Term Facility is payable quarterly beginning on March 31, 2013.

The Company may voluntarily prepay the Loans at any time in minimum amounts of \$1 million or an integral multiple of \$500,000 in excess thereof. The 2013 Credit Facilities provide for mandatory prepayments with the net cash proceeds of certain debt issuances, insurance receipts, and dispositions. The 2013 Term Facility also contains certain events of default, upon the occurrence of which, and so long as such event of default is continuing, the amounts outstanding may, at the option of

<u>Table of Contents</u>
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

the required lenders, accrue interest at an increased rate and payments of such outstanding amounts could be accelerated, or other remedies undertaken.

As of September 30, 2013, deferred financing costs and loan origination fees related to the 2013 Credit Facilities were \$8.9 million. Total amortization expense of the deferred financing costs and loan origination fees was \$0.5 million and \$1.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, and was reported as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Senior Notes

On January 22, 2013, the Company closed an offering of \$300 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% senior notes due 2023 to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A, and outside of the United States pursuant to Regulation S, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of January 22, 2013, among the Company, certain of its domestic subsidiaries, or the Subsidiary Guarantors, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, or the Indenture. The Senior Notes are the general unsecured senior obligations of the Company and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Subsidiary Guarantors.

Interest is payable on the Senior Notes semi-annually in arrears at an annual rate of 4.50%, on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15, 2013. The Senior Notes will mature on January 15, 2023. Interest accrues from January 22, 2013. As of September 30, 2013, accrued interest under the Senior Notes was \$2.8 million. At September 30, 2013, the estimated fair value of the Senior Notes was \$272.1 million and was determined using a secondary market price on the last trading day in each period as quoted by Bloomberg (Level 2 inputs). At any time and from time to time prior to July 15, 2016, the Company may redeem up to a maximum of 35% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings, at a redemption price equal to 104.50% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date); provided that: (1) at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes remains outstanding; and (2) the redemption occurs within 90 days of the completion of such equity offering upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior notice.

Prior to January 15, 2018, the Company may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes by paying a "make-whole" premium based on U.S. Treasury rates. During the 12-month period commencing on January 15 of the relevant year listed below, the Company may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at the prices listed below, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date): 2018 at a redemption price of 102.25%; 2019 at a redemption price of 101.50%; 2020 at a redemption price of 100.75%; and 2021 and thereafter at a redemption price of 100.00%. If the Company experiences certain changes of control together with a ratings downgrade, it will be required to offer to purchase all of the Senior Notes then outstanding at a purchase price equal to 101.00% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase. If the Company sells certain assets and does not repay certain debt or reinvest the proceeds of such sales within certain time periods, it will be required to offer to repurchase the Senior Notes with such proceeds at 100.00% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase.

The Senior Notes contain customary events of default, including among other things, payment default, failure to provide certain notices and defaults related to bankruptcy events. The Senior Notes also contain customary negative covenants.

As of September 30, 2013, deferred financing costs related to the Senior Notes were \$14.6 million. Total amortization expense of the deferred financing costs was \$0.3 million and \$0.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, and is reported as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company maintains six compensation plans: the NeuStar, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (1999 Plan); the NeuStar, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005 Plan); the Amended and Restated NeuStar, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (2009 Plan); the Targus Information Corporation Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (TARGUSinfo Plan); the AMACAI Information Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (AMACAI Plan) (collectively, the Plans), and the Neustar, Inc. Employee

Table of Contents NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). The Company may grant to its directors, employees and consultants awards under the 2009 Plan in the form of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance vested restricted stock units (PVRSUs) and other stock-based awards. The aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock with respect to which all awards may be granted under the 2009 Plan is 11,911,646, plus the number of shares underlying awards granted under the 1999 Plan, the 2005 Plan, the TARGUSinfo Plan, and the AMACAI Plan that remain undelivered following any expiration, cancellation or forfeiture of such awards. As of September 30, 2013, a total of 5,972,189 shares were available for grant or award under the 2009 Plan.

The Company's ESPP permits employees to purchase shares of common stock at a 15% discount from the market price of the stock at the beginning or at the end of a six-month purchase period, whichever is less. The six-month purchase periods begin on May 1 and November 1 each year. As of September 30, 2013, a total of 600,000 shares were available to be issued under the ESPP from the Company's treasury stock.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013 was \$9.0 million and \$9.7 million, respectively, and \$20.0 million and \$27.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively. As of September 30, 2013, total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock options, non-vested restricted stock awards, non-vested restricted stock units and non-vested PVRSUs granted prior to that date was estimated at \$51.5 million, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of approximately 1.37 years. Total unrecognized compensation expense as of September 30, 2013 is estimated based on outstanding non-vested stock options, non-vested restricted stock awards, non-vested restricted stock units and non-vested PVRSUs. Stock-based compensation expense may increase or decrease in future periods for subsequent grants or forfeitures, and changes in the estimated fair value of non-vested awards granted to consultants.

Stock Options

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options granted. No options were granted during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013. The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity:

	Shares	Weighted- Average Exercise Price	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in millions)	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Life (in years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012	3,296,040	\$24.81		
Options granted	_	_		
Options exercised	(744,865)	24.28		
Options forfeited	(330,873)	27.36		
Outstanding at September 30, 2013	2,220,302	\$24.61	\$55.2	6.31
Exercisable at September 30, 2013	1,373,579	\$23.91	\$35.1	5.82

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$17.8 million.

Table of Contents

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

Restricted Stock Awards

The following table summarizes the Company's non-vested restricted stock activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

	Shares	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in millions)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012	305,390	\$24.20	
Restricted stock granted	_	_	
Restricted stock vested	(101,520) 25.02	
Restricted stock forfeited	(33,172) 26.43	
Outstanding at September 30, 2013	170,698	\$23.28	\$8.4

The total aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$4.6 million. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company repurchased 2,866 and 37,301 shares of common stock, respectively, for an aggregate purchase price of \$0.2 million and \$1.7 million, respectively, pursuant to the participants' rights under the Company's stock incentive plans to elect to use common stock to satisfy their tax withholding obligations.

Performance Vested Restricted Stock Units

2012 Long-Term Incentive Program

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company awarded 99,210 PVRSUs, of which 49,605 PVRSUs were granted with an aggregate fair value of \$2.2 million. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company established the performance goals for the period beginning on January 1, 2013 and ending on December 31, 2013. The establishment of the 2013 performance goals resulted in the grant of 606,456 PVRSUs with an aggregate fair value of \$26.7 million, originally awarded during the year ended December 31, 2012. For executive management, the awarded PVRSUs are subject to five one-year performance periods, the first of which began on January 1, 2012 and ended December 31, 2012 and the last of which begins on January 1, 2016 and ends on December 31, 2016. Each executive is eligible to earn up to 150% of one-fifth of the award with respect to each annual performance period, subject to the achievement of the respective performance goals for each one-year performance period. For non-executive management, the PVRSUs awarded are subject to three one-year performance periods, the first of which began on January 1, 2012 and ended December 31, 2012 and the last of which begins on January 1, 2014 and ends on December 31, 2014. Each non-executive is eligible to earn up to 150% of one-third of the award with respect to each annual performance period, subject to the achievement of the respective performance goals for each one-year performance period. For both executive and non-executive management, the performance goals for each of the 2012 and 2013 performance periods were and will be based on: (i) Non-NPAC Revenue, (ii) Total Revenue, and (iii) Adjusted Net Income. The performance goals for the future one-year performance periods will consist of financial measures, weights and payouts to be established no later than 90 days after the beginning of each such period.

Subject to each participant's continued service and to certain other terms and conditions, the portion of the award, if any, earned (a) by executive management with respect to the first three performance periods will vest on January 1, 2015 and the portion of the award, if any, earned with respect to the final two performance periods will vest on January 1, 2016 and January 1, 2017, respectively; and (b) by non-executive management with respect to all three performance periods, 75% of the earned amount will vest on the first business day of 2015, and the remaining 25% of the earned amount will vest on the first business day of 2016. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized over the requisite service period based on the Company's estimate of the achievement of the performance target and the length of the vesting period.

2013 Long-Term Incentive Program

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company awarded 230,840 PVRSUs, of which 65,079 PVRSUs were granted with an aggregate fair value of \$3.1 million.

Table of Contents

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

The awarded PVRSUs are subject to three one-year performance periods, the first of which begins on January 1, 2013 and ends on December 31, 2013 and the last of which begins on January 1, 2015 and ends on December 31, 2015. Each participant is eligible to earn up to 150% of one-third of the award with respect to each annual performance period, subject to the achievement of the respective performance goals for each one-year performance period. The performance goal for the performance period from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013 will be based on: (i) Non-NPAC Revenue, (ii) Total Revenue, and (iii) Adjusted Net Income. The performance goals for the future one-year performance periods will consist of financial measures, weights and payouts to be established no later than 90 days after the beginning of each such period.

Subject to each participant's continued service and to certain other terms and conditions, the portion of the award, if any, earned will vest on March 1 in the year following the respective annual performance period. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized over the requisite service period based on the Company's estimate of the achievement of the performance target and the length of the vesting period.

Non-Vested PVRSU Activity

The fair value of a PVRSU is measured by reference to the closing market price of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period based on the number of PVRSUs expected to vest. As of September 30, 2013, the level of achievement of the performance target awards for PVRSUs performance years 2011, 2012 and 2013 was 134%, 129.5% and 100%, respectively.

The following table summarizes the Company's non-vested PVRSU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

	CI.	Weighted- Average	Aggregate Intrinsic
	Shares Grant Date		Value
		Fair Value	(in millions)
Non-vested December 31, 2012	971,023	\$31.72	
Granted	721,140	44.34	
Incremental achieved (1)	170,225	36.32	
Vested	(159,346) 22.85	
Forfeited	(233,140) 35.59	
Non-vested September 30, 2013	1,469,902	\$38.79	\$72.7

⁽¹⁾ Incremental achieved represents the additional awards in excess of the target grant resulting from the achievement of performance goals at levels above the performance targets established at the grant date.

The total aggregate intrinsic value of PVRSUs vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was approximately \$6.7 million. The Company repurchased 60,075 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$2.5 million pursuant to the participants' rights under the Plans to elect to use common stock to satisfy their tax withholding obligations.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the Company's restricted stock units activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2013:

	Shares	Average Grant Date Fair Value	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (in millions)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012	922,550	\$33.20	
Granted	80,374	48.29	
Vested	(174,065	38.28	

Forfeited	(73,491) 36.98	
Outstanding at September 30, 2013	755,368	\$33.27	\$37.4

Table of Contents
NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company granted 80,374 restricted stock units to certain employees with an aggregate fair value of \$3.9 million. Restricted stock units granted to executive management will vest annually in 5 equal installments. Restricted stock units granted to non-executive management will vest annually in 4 equal installments.

The restricted stock units previously issued to non-management directors of the Company's Board of Directors will fully vest on the earlier of the first anniversary of the date of grant or the day preceding the date in the following calendar year on which the Company's annual meeting of stockholders is held. Upon vesting of restricted stock units granted prior to 2011, each director's restricted stock units will automatically be converted into deferred stock units, and will be delivered to the director in shares of the Company's stock six months following the director's termination of board service. Upon vesting of restricted stock units that were granted in 2011 and subsequent periods, each director's restricted stock units will automatically be converted into deferred stock units and will be delivered to the director in shares of the Company's stock six months following the director's termination of board service unless a director elected near-term delivery, in which case the vested restricted stock units will be delivered on August 15 in the year following the initial grant.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company estimated the fair value of stock-based compensation expense associated with its ESPP using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following assumptions:

	Three and Nine Months	
	Ended Septemb	per 30, 2013
Dividend yield		%
Expected volatility	24.05	%
Risk-free interest rate	0.08	%
Expected life of employee stock purchase plan options (in months)	6	

Dividend yield - The Company has never declared or paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

Expected volatility - Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. The Company considered the historical volatility of its stock price over a term similar to the expected life of the option to purchase shares under the ESPP during a 6 month purchase period.

Risk-free interest rate - The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury bonds issued with similar life terms to the expected life of the ESPP options.

Expected life of ESPP options - The expected life of ESPP options was based on the six-month purchase period. Share Repurchase Program

Under the 2010 share repurchase program, during the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company purchased 0.8 million shares of its Class A common stock at an average price of \$44.09 per share for a total purchase price of \$35.4 million. As of September 30, 2013, a total of 8.0 million shares at an average price of \$31.07 per share had been purchased under the 2010 share repurchase program for an aggregate purchase price of \$248.1 million. All purchased shares are accounted for as treasury shares.

On May 2, 2013, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a \$250 million share repurchase program, commencing in the second quarter of 2013 and expiring on December 31, 2013. This program replaced the 2010 share repurchase program. Under the 2013 share repurchase program, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Company purchased 1.8 million and 3.0 million shares, respectively, of its Class A common stock at an average price of \$52.06 and \$50.38 per share, respectively, for a total purchase price of \$96.1 million and \$154.5 million, respectively. All purchased shares are accounted for as treasury shares.

NEUSTAR, INC.

20

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

8. BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted net income per common share (in thousands, except per share data):

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended	
	September 3	80,	September 30,	
	2012	2013	2012	2013
Computation of basic net income per common share:				
Net income	\$45,753	\$47,539	\$118,307	\$124,701
Weighted average common shares and participating securities outstanding – basic	es 66,523	63,978	66,880	65,223
Basic net income per common share	\$0.69	\$0.74	\$1.77	\$1.91
Computation of diluted net income per common share:				
Weighted average common shares and participating securities outstanding – basic	es 66,523	63,978	66,880	65,223
Effect of dilutive securities:				
Stock-based awards	1,100	1,532	1,081	1,490
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted	67,623	65,510	67,961	66,713
Diluted net income per common share	\$0.68	\$0.73	\$1.74	\$1.87

Diluted net income per common share reflects the potential dilution of common stock equivalents such as options, warrants and shares issuable under our ESPP, to the extent the impact is dilutive. Stock-based awards to purchase an aggregate of 583,482 and 23,897 shares were excluded from the calculation of the denominator for diluted net income per common share for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively, due to their anti-dilutive effects. Stock-based awards to purchase an aggregate of 637,385 and 50,703 shares were excluded from the calculation of the denominator for diluted net income per common share for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively, due to their anti-dilutive effects.

9. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, by component (in thousands):

	Unrealized	Foreign			
	Gains and	Currency		Total	
	Losses on	Translation		Total	
	Investments	Adjustment			
Balance at December 31, 2012	\$142	\$(909)	\$(767)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications	(198) (242)	(440)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive	2				
loss					
Net current-period other comprehensive loss	(198) (242)	(440)
Balance at September 30, 2013	\$(56) \$(1,151)	\$(1,207)

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

10. OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME

Other (expense) income consists of the following (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended		
	September 30),	September 30),	
	2012	2013	2012	2013	
Interest and other expense:					
Interest expense	\$8,622	\$5,809	\$25,489	\$18,146	
Loss on debt modification and extinguishment	_	_		10,886	
Gain on asset disposals	(31	(203)	(76)	(248)	
Foreign currency transaction gain	(74	(215)	(299)	(82)	
Other	_	105		149	
Total	\$8,517	\$5,496	\$25,114	\$28,851	
Interest and other income:					
Interest income	\$140	\$64	\$479	\$292	
Total	\$140	\$64	\$479	\$292	
Foreign currency transaction gain Other Total Interest and other income: Interest income	(74 — \$8,517 \$140	(215 105 \$5,496 \$64	(299) — \$25,114 \$479	(82) 149 \$28,851 \$292	

11. INCOME TAXES

The Company's effective tax rate increased to 36.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 from 35.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 primarily due to discrete benefits for the foreign tax credit and domestic production activities deduction recorded in the second and third quarters of 2012.

As of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of \$4.4 million and \$6.3 million, respectively, of which \$4.1 million and \$5.9 million, respectively, would affect the Company's effective tax rate if recognized.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. During the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, the Company recognized potential interest and penalties of \$8,000 and \$14,000, respectively, and \$98,000 and \$55,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013, the Company had established reserves of approximately \$194,000 and \$249,000, respectively, for accrued potential interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions. To the extent interest and penalties are not assessed with respect to uncertain tax positions, amounts accrued will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the overall income tax provision.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States Federal jurisdiction and in many state and foreign jurisdictions. The tax years 2007 through 2012 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. The IRS has initiated an examination of the Company's 2009 federal income tax return. While the ultimate outcome of the audit is uncertain, management does not currently believe that the outcome will have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company anticipates that total unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by approximately \$407,000 over the next 12 months due to the expiration of certain statutes of limitations and settlement of tax audits.

12. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has three operating segments, reflective of the manner in which the chief operating decision maker (CODM) allocates resources and assesses performance: Carrier Services, Enterprise Services, and Information Services. The Company's operating segments are the same as its reportable segments.

The Company's Carrier Services operating segment provides services that ensure the seamless connection of its carrier customers' numerous networks, while also enhancing the capabilities and performance of their customer's infrastructure. The Company enables its carrier customers to use, exchange and share critical resources, such as telephone numbers, to facilitate

Table of Contents
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

order management and work flow processing among carriers, and allows operators to manage and optimize the addressing and routing of IP communications.

The Company's Enterprise Services operating segment provides services to its enterprise customers to meet their respective directory-related needs, as well as Internet infrastructure services. The Company is the authoritative provider of essential registry services and manages directories of similar resources, or addresses, that its customers use for reliable, fair and secure access and connectivity. The Company provides a suite of DNS services to its enterprise customers built on a global directory platform. The Company manages a collection of directories that maintain addresses in order to direct, prioritize and manage Internet traffic, and to find and resolve Internet queries and top-level domains. The Company's services monitor and load-test websites to help identify issues and optimize performance. In addition, the Company provides fixed IP geolocation services that help enterprises identify the location of their consumers used in a variety of purposes, including fraud prevention and marketing. Additionally, the Company provides directory services for the 5- and 6-digit number strings used for all U.S. Common Short Codes, which is part of the short messaging service relied upon by the U.S. wireless industry.

The Company's Information Services segment provides a broad portfolio of real-time information and analytics services that enable clients to identify, verify and score their customers and prospective customers, or prospects, to deliver customized responses to a large number of consumer-initiated queries. As an example, the Company provides marketers with the ability to tailor offers made to consumers over the telephone or on the Internet in real time. The Company is one of the largest non-carrier providers of Caller ID services, and provides a comprehensive market analytics platform that enables clients to segment and score customers and prospects for real-time interactive marketing initiatives. Additionally, the Company's business listings identity management service provides local businesses and local search platforms with a single, trusted source of verified business listings for local searches. The Company's online audience solution enables online advertisers to display relevant advertisements to specific audiences, increasing the effectiveness of online advertising and delivering a more useful online experience for consumers using a database and targeting system that protect a consumer's privacy.

The Company reports segment information based on the "management" approach which relies on the internal performance measures used by the CODM to assess the performance of each operating segment in a given period. In connection with that assessment, the CODM reviews revenues and segment contribution, which excludes certain unallocated costs within the following expense classifications: cost of revenue, sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative. Depreciation and amortization and restructuring charges are also excluded from segment contribution.

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

Information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013 regarding the Company's reportable segments was as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended		
	September 30),	September 30,		
	2012	2013	2012	2013	
Revenue:					
Carrier Services	\$125,202	\$139,477	\$375,922	\$406,381	
Enterprise Services	43,630	44,896	125,204	133,466	
Information Services	42,340	43,260	116,090	124,552	
Total revenue	\$211,172	\$227,633	\$617,216	\$664,399	
Segment contribution:					
Carrier Services	\$109,359	\$121,288	\$328,243	\$352,768	
Enterprise Services	20,314	22,393	55,911	65,481	
Information Services	24,064	21,741	59,069	57,620	
Total segment contribution	153,737	165,422	443,223	475,869	
Indirect operating expenses:					
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization shown separately below)	24,989	26,091	73,999	78,023	
Sales and marketing	6,050	6,524	18,415	19,444	
Research and development	4,270	4,551	13,561	13,379	
General and administrative	20,213	23,257	60,344	65,095	
Depreciation and amortization	23,622	24,586	69,041	73,941	
Restructuring charges	(32)		492	2	
Income from operations	\$74,625	\$80,413	\$207,371	\$225,985	

Assets are not tracked by segment and the CODM does not evaluate segment performance based on asset utilization. Enterprise-Wide Disclosures

Geographic area revenues and service offering revenues from external customers for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, and geographic area long-lived assets as of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended	
		September 30,	
2012	2013	2012	2013
\$200,891	\$213,403	\$584,486	\$627,652
6,391	7,560	20,624	21,487
3,890	6,670	12,106	15,260
\$211,172	\$227,633	\$617,216	\$664,399
	September 30 2012 \$200,891 6,391 3,890	2012 2013 \$200,891 \$213,403 6,391 7,560 3,890 6,670	September 30, September 30, 2012 2013 \$200,891 \$213,403 \$584,486 6,391 7,560 3,890 6,670 12,106

Table of Contents NEUSTAR, INC. NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2012	2013	2012	2013
Revenues by service offerings:				
Carrier Services:				
Numbering Services	\$111,726	\$119,873	\$333,11	1 \$355,693
Order Management Services	10,104	16,299	31,555	39,561
IP Services	3,372	3,305	11,256	11,127
Total Carrier Services	125,202	139,477	375,922	406,381
Enterprise Services:				
Internet Infrastructure Services	22,856	25,026	67,034	72,528
Registry Services	20,774	19,870	58,170	60,938
Total Enterprise Services	43,630	44,896	125,204	133,466
Information Services:				
Identification Services	24,212	23,246	69,888	68,915
Verification & Analytics Services	13,078	14,081	31,135	38,650
Local Search & Licensed Data Services	5,050	5,933	15,067	16,987
Total Information Services	42,340	43,260	116,090	124,552
Total revenues	\$211,172	\$227,633	\$617,21	6 \$664,399
		December	31,	September 30,
		2012		2013
Long-lived assets, net				
North America		\$406,973		\$369,012
Central America		16		9
Europe and Middle East		10		11
Other regions		1		1
Total long-lived assets, net		\$407,000		\$369,033
12 CLIDDLEMENTAL CHADANTOD INCODMAS	LION			

13. SUPPLEMENTAL GUARANTOR INFORMATION

The following schedules present condensed consolidating financial information of the Company as of December 31, 2012 and September 30, 2013 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013 for (a) Neustar, Inc., the parent company; (b) certain of the Company's 100% owned domestic subsidiaries (collectively, the Subsidiary Guarantors); and (c) certain wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries of the Company (collectively, the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries). Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method; accordingly, entries necessary to consolidate the parent company and all of the guarantor and non-guarantor subsidiaries are reflected in the eliminations column. Intercompany amounts that will not be settled between entities are treated as contributions or distributions for purposes of these consolidated financial statements. The guarantees, as outlined in Note 6, are full and unconditional and joint and several.

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2012

(in thousands)

(in mousulus)	NeuStar, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
ASSETS					
Current assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$330,849	\$5,372	\$ 4,034	\$	\$340,255
Restricted cash	1,481	845	217	_	2,543
Short-term investments	3,666	_	_		3,666
Accounts receivable, net	75,849	54,599	1,357		131,805
Unbilled receivables	1,221	5,030	121		6,372
Notes receivable	2,740	_	_		2,740
Prepaid expenses and other current	14,306	3,057	344	_	17,707
assets	(000	207	0.4		7.270
Deferred costs	6,989	296	94	(447	7,379
Income taxes receivable	7,043	4.020	_	(447) 6,596
Deferred tax assets	3,278	4,020		(605) 6,693
Intercompany receivable	16,856	— 72.010		(16,856) —
Total current assets	464,278	73,219	6,167	(17,908) 525,756
Property and equipment, net	92,183	26,303	27		118,513
Goodwill	80,911	467,538	23,729		572,178
Intangible assets, net	18,025	270,462			288,487
Notes receivable, long-term	1,008			— (702.204	1,008
Net investments in subsidiaries	703,394			(703,394) —
Deferred tax assets, long-term		<u> </u>	710	(710) —
Other assets, long-term	20,224	548	10	—	20,782
Total assets	\$1,380,023	\$838,070	\$ 30,643	\$(722,012	\$1,526,724
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS	S' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:	Φ ζ 117	ΦΦ 010	Φ 222	ф	Φ0.260
Accounts payable	\$6,117	\$2,819	\$ 333	\$ —	\$9,269
Accrued expenses	65,956	17,382	2,086		85,424
Income taxes payable			447	(447) —
Deferred revenue	29,031	18,473	1,566		49,070
Notes payable	8,125	_	_		8,125
Capital lease obligations	1,686				1,686
Deferred tax liabilities			605	(605) —
Other liabilities	2,288	1,432	136		3,856
Intercompany payable	_	115	16,741	(16,856) —
Total current liabilities	113,203	40,221	21,914	(17,908) 157,430
Deferred revenue, long-term	9,234	688	_		9,922
Notes payable, long-term	576,688	_	_	_	576,688
Capital lease obligations, long-term	817		_		817
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term	17,448	97,392		(710) 114,130
Other liabilities, long-term	14,772	6,357			21,129
Total liabilities	732,162	144,658	21,914	(18,618	880,116

Total stockholders' equity	647,861	693,412	8,729	(703,394) 646,608
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$1,380,023	\$838,070	\$ 30,643	\$(722,012	\$1,526,724

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET SEPTEMBER 30, 2013

(in thousands)

(in thousands)	NeuStar, Inc.	Guarantor	Non-Guarantor	Eliminations	Consolidated
ASSETS		Subsidiaries	Subsidiaries		
Current assets:	¢246 620	¢220	¢ 5 0 1 7	¢	¢252.714
Cash and cash equivalents Restricted cash	\$346,639	\$228 595	\$ 5,847	\$ —	\$352,714
	1,260	53,605	3	_	1,858
Accounts receivable, net Unbilled receivables	87,133	•	1,392	_	142,130
Notes receivable	3,198	7,489	2,240	_	12,927
	1,601	_	_	_	1,601
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	16,427	3,707	201	_	20,335
Deferred costs	6,406	371	96	_	6,873
Income taxes receivable	5,134				4,324
Deferred tax assets	4,133	1,974		(822)	5,285
Intercompany receivable	12,255			(12,255)	
Total current assets	484,186	67,969	9,779	(13,887)	548,047
Property and equipment, net	90,897	20,623	21		111,541
Goodwill	84,771	467,538	23,729		576,038
Intangible assets, net	21,993	235,499			257,492
Net investments in subsidiaries	686,209			(686,209)	
Deferred tax assets, long-term	_		148	(148)	
Other assets, long-term	24,656	763	166		25,585
Total assets	\$1,392,712	\$792,392	\$ 33,843	\$(700,244)	\$1,518,703
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS	S' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:					
Accounts payable	\$4,146	\$1,584	\$ <i>—</i>	\$ —	\$5,730
Accrued expenses	60,138	15,517	3,532		79,187
Income taxes payable			810	(810)	
Deferred revenue	30,726	17,682	935		49,343
Notes payable	7,972				7,972
Capital lease obligations	572				572
Deferred tax liability	_	_	822	(822)	_
Other liabilities	1,999	817	10	_	2,826
Intercompany payable	_	_	12,255	(12,255)	_
Total current liabilities	105,553	35,600	18,364	(13,887)	145,630
Deferred revenue, long-term	9,354	666			10,020
Notes payable, long-term	610,285				610,285
Capital lease obligations, long-term	245				245
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term	22,939	80,754		(148)	103,545
Other liabilities, long-term	16,302	5,962	_		22,264
Total liabilities	764,678	122,982	18,364	(14,035)	891,989
Total stockholders' equity	628,034	669,410	15,479	(686,209)	626,714
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	\$792,392	\$ 33,843	\$(700,244)	\$1,518,703

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 (in thousands)

(in thousands)	NeuStar, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenue:	\$144,913	\$64,445	\$ 2,296	\$(482)	\$211,172
Operating expense:	, ,	, - , -	, ,	,	, , ,
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation					
and amortization shown separately	37,359	7,470	1,895	(385)	46,339
below)			·	,	
Sales and marketing	20,072	16,691	1,303	(26)	38,040
Research and development	4,076	3,565	22	_	7,663
General and administrative	18,088	2,453	445	(71)	20,915
Depreciation and amortization	8,807	14,806	9		23,622
Restructuring recoveries	(32)		_		(32)
	88,370	44,985	3,674	(482)	136,547
Income (loss) from operations	56,543	19,460	(1,378)		74,625
Other (expense) income:					
Interest and other expense	(8,538)	56	(35)		(8,517)
Interest and other income	149	10	(19)		140
Income (loss) before income taxes and					
equity income (loss) in consolidated	48,154	19,526	(1,432)	_	66,248
subsidiaries					
Provision for income taxes	12,643	7,595	257		20,495
Income (loss) before equity income	35,511	11,931	(1,689)		45,753
(loss) in consolidated subsidiaries	35,511	11,551	(1,00)		13,703
Equity income (loss) in consolidated subsidiaries	10,207	(883)	_	(9,324)	_
Net income (loss)	\$45,718	\$11,048	\$ (1,689)	\$(9,324)	\$45,753
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$45,809	\$11,048	\$ (1,673)	\$(9,324)	\$45,860
27					

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 (in thousands)

(NeuStar, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non-Guaranton Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenue:	\$156,508	\$67,140	\$ 4,942	\$(957) \$227,633
Operating expense:					
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation					
and amortization shown separately	39,493	10,796	1,976	(831) 51,434
below)					
Sales and marketing	16,744	22,566	955	(12) 40,253
Research and development	4,463	2,732	1	_	7,196
General and administrative	22,336	1,458	71	(114) 23,751
Depreciation and amortization	10,199	14,383	4	_	24,586
	93,235	51,935	3,007	(957) 147,220
Income from operations	63,273	15,205	1,935		80,413
Other (expense) income:					
Interest and other expense	(5,462)	(10)	(24)		(5,496)
Interest and other income	59		5		64
Income before income taxes and equity	57,870	15,195	1,916		74,981
income in consolidated subsidiaries	37,670	13,193	1,910		74,901
Provision for income taxes	20,340	6,619	483		27,442
Income before equity income in	37,530	8,576	1,433		47,539
consolidated subsidiaries	37,330	0,570	1,733		77,557
Equity income in consolidated	10,009	617		(10,626) —
subsidiaries	·			•	,
Net income	\$47,539	\$9,193	\$ 1,433) \$47,539
Comprehensive income	\$47,412	\$9,207	\$ 1,492	\$(10,626) \$47,485
28					
20					

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 (in thousands)

(III tilousalius)					
	NeuStar, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non-Guaranton Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenue:	\$430,224	\$180,956	\$ 7,752	\$(1,716)	\$617,216
Operating expense:					
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation					
and amortization shown separately	108,827	23,533	6,253	(1,249)	137,364
below)					
Sales and marketing	55,416	58,373	3,878	(201)	117,466
Research and development	12,804	10,450	229		23,483
General and administrative	52,747	9,230	288	(266)	61,999
Depreciation and amortization	25,311	43,696	34		69,041
Restructuring charges (recoveries)	623		(131)		492
	255,728	145,282	10,551	(1,716)	409,845
Income (loss) from operations	174,496	35,674	(2,799)	_	207,371
Other (expense) income:					
Interest and other expense	(25,511)	211	186	_	(25,114)
Interest and other income	557	43	(121)		479
Income (loss) before income taxes and					
equity income (loss) in consolidated	149,542	35,928	(2,734)		182,736
subsidiaries					
Provision for income taxes	50,123	13,211	1,095		64,429
Income (loss) before equity income	99,419	22,717	(3,829)		118,307
(loss) in consolidated subsidiaries	,	,	(-,)		,
Equity income (loss) in consolidated	18,853	(1,895)	_	(16,958)	_
subsidiaries					****
Net income (loss)	\$118,272	\$20,822	\$ (3,829)		\$118,307
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$118,555	\$20,670	\$ (3,811)	\$(16,958)	\$118,456
20					
29					

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 (in thousands)

	NeuStar, Inc.	Guarantor Subsidiaries	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenue:	\$462,132	\$193,698	\$ 11,353	\$(2,784	\$664,399
Operating expense:	\$.0 2 ,10 2	4170,070	ф 11,000	φ(- ,, σ ·	, 400.,000
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation					
and amortization shown separately	120,257	30,382	2,838	(2,527	150,950
below)	120,207	20,202	2,000	(=,0=7	, 100,500
Sales and marketing	51,630	69,670	3,192	(24) 124,468
Research and development	12,883	9,411	2	_	22,296
General and administrative	60,836	5,401	753	(233) 66,757
Depreciation and amortization	30,239	43,686	16	_	73,941
Restructuring charges	2	_			2
	275,847	158,550	6,801	(2,784	438,414
Income from operations	186,285	35,148	4,552	_	225,985
Other (expense) income:					
Interest and other expense	(28,807)	5	(49)	_	(28,851)
Interest and other income	278	1	13		292
Income before income taxes and equity	157,756	35,154	4,516		197,426
income in consolidated subsidiaries					
Provision for income taxes	56,499	15,145	1,081		72,725
Income before equity income in consolidated subsidiaries	101,257	20,009	3,435	_	124,701
Equity income in consolidated subsidiaries	23,444	1,671	_	(25,115) —
Net income	\$124,701	\$21,680	\$ 3,435	\$(25,115	\$124,701
Comprehensive income	\$124,396	\$21,694	\$ 3,286	\$(25,115	\$124,261
30					

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 (in thousands)

	NeuStar, In	ıc.	Guarantor Subsidiarie	es	Non-Guaranto Subsidiaries	r Elimination	ıs	Consolidate	ed
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$203,887		\$62,678		\$ 728	\$(65,924)	\$201,369	
Investing activities:									
Purchases of property and equipment	(27,830)	(7,800)				(35,630)
Sales and maturities of investments	5,968		_					5,968	
Purchases of investments	(1,494)						(1,494)
Net cash used in investing activities	(23,356)	(7,800)				(31,156)
Financing activities:									
Decrease of restricted cash	_		_		3	_		3	
Payments under notes payable obligations	(4,500)	_		_	_		(4,500)
Principal repayments on capital lease	(2,886)						(2,886)
obligations	(2,000	,						(2,000	,
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options	52,085		_		_			52,085	
Excess tax benefits from stock-based									
compensation	7,676		_		12	_		7,688	
Repurchase of restricted stock awards	(9,631)						(9,631)
Repurchase of common stock	(73,803)						(73,803)
Distribution to parent			(65,783)	(141)	65,924			
Net cash used in financing activities	(31,059)	(65,783)	(126)	65,924		(31,044)
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents	(224)	(152)	19			(357)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	149,248		(11,057)	621	_		138,812	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	103,029		17,136		2,072	_		122,237	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$252,277		\$6,079		\$ 2,693	\$ —		\$261,049	

NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2013 (in thousands)

(in thousands)	NeuStar, Inc	c.	Guarantor Subsidiarie	. c	Non-Guaran Subsidiaries		Eliminations	Consolidat	ed
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$211,336		\$76,858	23	\$ 10,716		\$(87,888)	\$211,022	
Investing activities:	4211,000		Ψ. σ,σεσ		Ψ 10,710		<i>(07,000)</i>	Ψ=11,0==	
Purchases of property and equipment	(32,206)	(3,044)	(9)		(35,259)
Sales and maturities of investments	3,543		_				_	3,543	
Business acquired	(8,500)			_		_	(8,500)
Net cash used in investing activities	(37,163)	(3,044)	(9)		(40,216)
Financing activities:									
Decrease (increase) of restricted cash	444		248		(7)		685	
Proceeds from notes payable, net of discount	624,244		_		_			624,244	
Extinguishment of note payable	(592,500)	_					(592,500)
Debt issuance costs	(11,410)	_					(11,410)
Payments under notes payable obligations	(6,094)						(6,094)
Principal repayments on capital lease obligations	(1,686)	_		_		_	(1,686)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock									
options	18,225		_		_		_	18,225	
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	7,094		_		3		_	7,097	
Repurchase of restricted stock awards	(6,861)	_		_			(6,861)
Repurchase of common stock	(189,834)	_		_			(189,834)
Distribution to parent			(79,206)	(8,682)	87,888		
Net cash used in financing activities	(158,378)	(78,958)	(8,686)	87,888	(158,134)
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents	(5)	_		(208)	_	(213)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	15,790		(5,144)	1,813		_	12,459	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	330,849		5,372		4,034		_	340,255	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$346,639		\$228		\$ 5,847		\$ —	\$352,714	
32									

Table of Contents
NEUSTAR, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2013

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On October 29, 2013, the Company acquired Aggregate Knowledge, Inc., (Aggregate Knowledge), a leading campaign and predictive analytics platform for advertising agencies and brand marketers, for approximately \$119 million in cash consideration. The combination of the Company's real-time, offline and online marketing solutions and Aggregate Knowledge's media intelligence platform provides agencies and marketers the ability to plan, target, engage and measure cross-channel campaigns more effectively in a single view. The comprehensive workflow solution allows marketers to tailor their media spending plans, efficiently reach target audiences, and improve performance and engagement across devices and channels. This privacy-by-design marketing suite will help clients drive greater campaign success and increase return on investment. The purchase will be accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the Business Combinations Topic of the FASB ASC and the results of operations will be included within the Information Services segment. The purchase was funded with cash on hand.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, statements concerning the conditions in our industry, our operations and economic performance, and our business and growth strategy. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "expects," "intends," "plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "continue" or the negative of these other comparable terminology. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Many of these risks are beyond our ability to control or predict. These forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions by our management that we believe to be reasonable but are inherently uncertain and subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, without limitation, those described in this report, in Part II, "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and in subsequent filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

Overview

During the third quarter, we continued to experience increased demand for our services. Revenue increased 8% to \$227.6 million as compared to \$211.2 million in the third quarter of 2012. Our Carrier Services segment contributed 7% of this increase, driven by a contractual increase of 6.5% in the fixed fee under our contracts to provide number portability services.

Further, we continued to execute our capital allocation strategy of returning cash to shareholders through share repurchases. During the third quarter of 2013, we purchased 1.8 million shares of our Class A common stock under the 2013 share repurchase program at an average price of \$52.06 per share for a total price of \$96.1 million. As previously disclosed, in the second quarter of 2013, we submitted our response to the NAPM's Request for Proposal, or RFP, for the selection of the next local number portability administrator in accordance with the RFP submission requirements and timeline. In August 2013, the NAPM announced the commencement of a best and final offer process. The NAPM's timeline remains unchanged with vendor selection expected to be made in January 2014. We remain confident in the strength of our response to the NAPM's RFP, and we continue to believe that the high quality of our services provides us the best opportunity to remain the NPAC administrator of local number portability for the communications industry.

On October 29, 2013, we acquired Aggregate Knowledge, Inc., or Aggregate Knowledge, a leading campaign and predictive analytics platform for advertising agencies and brand marketers, for approximately \$119 million in cash consideration. The combination of our real-time, offline and online marketing solutions and Aggregate Knowledge's media intelligence platform provides agencies and marketers the ability to plan, target, engage and measure cross-channel campaigns more effectively in a single view. The comprehensive workflow solution allows marketers to tailor their media spending plans, efficiently reach target audiences, and improve performance and engagement across devices and channels. This privacy-by-design marketing suite will help clients drive greater campaign success and increase return on investment. The purchase was funded with cash on hand.

As part of our 2013 strategic planning update, we continue to evolve the way in which we serve our clients and the way in which we go to market with solutions. As part of this planning process, we have been evaluating and continue to evaluate how we manage our business to most effectively serve our clients.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our unaudited consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to utilize accounting policies and make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during a fiscal period. The Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, considers an

accounting policy to be critical if it is important to a company's financial condition and results of operations, and if it requires significant judgment and estimates on the part of management in its application. We have discussed the selection and development of the critical accounting policies with the audit committee of our Board of Directors, and the audit committee has reviewed our related disclosures in this report.

Table of Contents

Although we believe that our judgments and estimates are appropriate and reasonable, actual results may differ from those estimates. In addition, while we have used our best estimates based on the facts and circumstances available to us at the time, we reasonably could have used different estimates in the current period. Changes in the accounting estimates we use are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, which may have a material impact on the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations. If actual results or events differ materially from those contemplated by us in making these estimates, our reported financial condition and results of operations could be materially affected. See the information in our filings with the SEC from time to time, including Part I, "Item 1A. Risk Factors" of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, for certain matters that may bear on our results of operations.

The following discussion of selected critical accounting policies supplements the information relating to our critical accounting policies described in Part II, "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expense in accordance with the Compensation – Stock Compensation Topic of the FASB ASC which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for stock-based awards granted to employees based on estimated fair values on the date of grant.

See Note 7 to our Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this report for information regarding our assumptions related to stock-based compensation and the amount of stock-based compensation expense we incurred for the periods covered in this report.

We estimate the fair value of our restricted stock unit awards based on the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. Our outstanding restricted stock unit awards are subject to service-based vesting conditions and performance-based vesting conditions. We recognize the estimated fair value of service-based awards, net of estimated forfeitures, as stock-based compensation expense over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Awards with performance-based vesting conditions require the achievement of specific financial targets at the end of the specified performance period and the employee's continued employment over the vesting period. We recognize the estimated fair value of performance-based awards, net of estimated forfeitures, as stock-based compensation expense over the vesting period, which considers each performance period or tranche separately, based upon our determination of whether it is probable that the performance targets will be achieved. At each reporting period, we reassess the probability of achieving the performance targets within the related performance period. Determining whether the performance targets will be achieved involves judgment, and the estimate of stock-based compensation expense may be revised periodically based on changes in the probability of achieving the performance targets. If any performance goals specific to the restricted stock unit awards are not met, no compensation cost ultimately is recognized for such awards, and to the extent previously recognized, compensation cost is reversed. As of September 30, 2013, we estimated that the level of achievement of the performance targets for performance vested restricted stock units granted during 2013 was 100%.

Consolidated Results of Operations

Three Months Ended September 30, 2012 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2013

The following table presents an overview of our results of operations for the three months ended September

The following table presents an overview of our results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013:

	Three Months Ended September 30,							
	2012		2013		2012 vs. 2013	3		
	\$		\$		\$ Change		% Change	
	(unaudited)							
	(dollars in the	ous	ands, except	per	share data)			
Revenue:								
Carrier Services	\$125,202		\$139,477		\$14,275		11.4	%
Enterprise Services	43,630		44,896		1,266		2.9	%
Information Services	42,340		43,260		920		2.2	%
Total revenue	211,172		227,633		16,461		7.8	%
Operating expense:								
Cost of revenue (excludes depreciation and	46,339		51,434		5,095		11.0	%
amortization shown separately below)	40,339		31,434		3,093		11.0	70
Sales and marketing	38,040		40,253		2,213		5.8	%
Research and development	7,663		7,196		(467)	(6.1)%
General and administrative	20,915		23,751		2,836		13.6	%
Depreciation and amortization	23,622		24,586		964		4.1	%
Restructuring recoveries	(32)			32		(100.0)%
	136,547		147,220		10,673		7.8	%
Income from operations	74,625		80,413		5,788		7.8	%
Other (expense) income:								
Interest and other expense	(8,517)	(5,496)	3,021		(35.5)%
Interest and other income	140		64		(76)	(54.3)%
Income before income taxes	66,248		74,981		8,733		13.2	%
Provision for income taxes	20,495		27,442		6,947		33.9	%
Net income	\$45,753		\$47,539		\$1,786		3.9	%
Net income per share:								
Basic	\$0.69		\$0.74					
Diluted	\$0.68		\$0.73					
Weighted average common shares outstanding:								
Basic	66,523		63,978					
Diluted	67,623		65,510					
Revenue								

Carrier Services. Revenue from our Carrier Services operating segment increased \$14.3 million due to an increase of \$8.1 million in revenue from Numbering Services and an increase of \$6.2 million in revenue from our Order Management Services, or OMS. In particular, the Numbering Services revenue increase was driven by a \$6.7 million increase in the fixed fee established under our contracts to provide NPAC Services and an increase of \$1.8 million in revenue from international local number portability, or LNP. The increase in our OMS revenue was driven by the addition of new customers and increased transactions from existing customers.

Enterprise Services. Revenue from our Enterprise Services operating segment increased \$1.3 million due to an increase of \$2.2 million in revenue from Internet Infrastructure Services, or IIS, and a decrease of \$0.9 million in revenue from Registry Services. In particular, the IIS revenue increase was driven by higher demand for our managed domain name systems, or DNS, solutions, to direct and manage Internet traffic. The decrease in our Registry Services revenue was driven by a reduction in revenue from system enhancements, partially offset by continued growth in the number of domain names under management.

Table of Contents

Information Services. Revenue from our Information Services operating segment increased \$0.9 million due to an increase of \$1.0 million in revenue from Verification & Analytics Services, an increase of \$0.9 million in revenue from Local Search & Licensed Data Services, and a decrease of \$1.0 million in Identification Services. In particular, the Verification & Analytics Services revenue increase was driven by new clients and continued demand for our services that provide customized commercial insights. In addition, Local Search & Licensed Data Services revenue increased due to higher demand for our online local business listing identity management solutions. Expense

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue increased \$5.1 million due to an increase of \$2.9 million in costs related to our information technology and systems and an increase of \$1.4 million in deferred costs. The increase in costs related to our information technology and systems was driven by revenue growth that resulted in increased data processing, telecommunications and maintenance costs.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense increased \$2.2 million due to an increase of \$3.2 million in advertising and marketing costs and a decrease of \$1.0 million in personnel and personnel-related expense. In particular, the increase in advertising and marketing costs was driven by costs incurred to promote awareness of our services and outsourced fees incurred to support our long-term sales strategy.

Research and development. Research and development expense for the three months ended September 30, 2012 was comparable to the expense for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

General and administrative. General and administrative expense increased \$2.8 million due to an increase of \$2.1 million in professional fees. The increase in professional fees was driven by costs incurred to support business growth, strategic planning and to pursue new business opportunities.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense increased \$1.0 million due to an increase of \$1.7 million in depreciation expense related to capitalized software costs. This increase was partially offset by a decrease of \$0.6 million in depreciation expense related to capital leases.

Restructuring recoveries. Restructuring recoveries for the three months ended September 30, 2012 were minimal. We did not incur any restructuring charges or recoveries for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Interest and other expense. Interest and other expense decreased \$3.0 million due to a decrease in interest expense of \$2.8 million driven by the refinancing of our 2011 Credit Facilities.

Interest and other income. Interest and other income for the three months ended September 30, 2012 was comparable to the income for the three months ended September 30, 2013.

Provision for income taxes. Our effective tax rate increased to 36.6% for the three months ended September 30, 2013 from 30.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2012. In the third quarter of 2012 we recorded \$5.2 million in discrete tax benefits, primarily due to a net tax benefit associated with our domestic production activities deduction. Excluding discrete tax benefits, our effective tax rate was approximately 38.8% and 37.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

Summary of Operating Segments

The following table presents a summary of our operating segments' revenue, contribution and the reconciliation to income from operations for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,							
2012	2013	2012 vs. 201	3				
\$	\$	\$ Change	% Change	;			
\$125,202	\$139,477	\$14,275	11.4	%			
43,630	44,896	1,266	2.9	%			
42,340	43,260	920	2.2	%			
\$211,172	\$227,633	\$16,461	7.8	%			
\$109,359	\$121,288	\$11,929	10.9	%			
20,314	22,393	2,079	10.2	%			
24,064	21,741	(2,323) (9.7)%			
153,737	165,422	11,685	7.6	%			
24 080	26.001	1 102	1.1	%			
24,707	20,071	1,102	7.7	70			
6,050	6,524	474	7.8	%			
4,270	4,551	281	6.6	%			
20,213	23,257	3,044	15.1	%			
23,622	24,586	964	4.1	%			
(32) —	32	(100.0)%			
\$74,625	\$80,413	\$5,788	7.8	%			
	2012 \$ \$125,202 43,630 42,340 \$211,172 \$109,359 20,314 24,064 153,737 24,989 6,050 4,270 20,213 23,622 (32	2012 2013 \$ \$ \$ \$125,202 \$139,477 43,630 44,896 42,340 43,260 \$211,172 \$227,633 \$109,359 \$121,288 20,314 22,393 24,064 21,741 153,737 165,422 24,989 26,091 6,050 6,524 4,270 4,551 20,213 23,257 23,622 24,586 (32) —	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Change \$125,202 \$139,477 \$14,275 43,630 44,896 1,266 42,340 43,260 920 \$211,172 \$227,633 \$16,461 \$109,359 \$121,288 \$11,929 20,314 22,393 2,079 24,064 21,741 (2,323 153,737 165,422 11,685 24,989 26,091 1,102 6,050 6,524 474 4,270 4,551 281 20,213 23,257 3,044 23,622 24,586 964 (32) — 32	2012 2013 2012 vs. 2013 \$ \$ Change % Change \$125,202 \$139,477 \$14,275 \$11.4 43,630 44,896 1,266 2.9 42,340 43,260 920 2.2 \$211,172 \$227,633 \$16,461 7.8 \$109,359 \$121,288 \$11,929 10.9 20,314 22,393 2,079 10.2 24,064 21,741 (2,323) (9.7 153,737 165,422 11,685 7.6 24,989 26,091 1,102 4.4 6,050 6,524 474 7.8 4,270 4,551 281 6.6 20,213 23,257 3,044 15.1 23,622 24,586 964 4.1 (32) — 32 (100.0			

Segment contribution is determined based on internal performance measures used by the chief operating decision maker, or CODM, to assess the performance of each operating segment in a given period. In connection with this assessment, the CODM reviews revenue and segment contribution, which excludes certain unallocated costs within the following expense classifications: cost of revenue, sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative. Depreciation and amortization and restructuring charges are also excluded from the segment contribution.

The following is a discussion of our operating segment results for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013:

Carrier Services. Revenue from our Carrier Services operating segment increased \$14.3 million due to an increase of \$8.1 million in revenue from Numbering Services and an increase of \$6.2 million in revenue from our OMS. In particular, the Numbering Services revenue increase was driven by a \$6.7 million increase in the fixed fee established under our contracts to provide NPAC Services and an increase of \$1.8 million in revenue from international LNP. The increase in our OMS revenue was driven by the addition of new customers and increased transactions from existing customers. Segment operating costs for Carrier Services totaled \$18.2 million, an increase of \$2.3 million. This increase in segment operating costs was due to an increase of \$1.7 million in royalty expense and an increase of \$1.5 million in information technology and systems costs. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of \$1.0 million in personnel and personnel-related expense. The increase in royalty expense was driven by revenue growth. The increase in information and technology and systems costs was driven by increased data processing, telecommunications and maintenance costs. Carrier Services segment revenue less its segment operating costs resulted in a segment contribution of \$121.3 million, an increase of \$11.9 million.

Enterprise Services. Revenue from our Enterprise Services operating segment increased \$1.3 million due to an increase of \$2.2 million in revenue from IIS and a decrease of \$0.9 million in revenue from Registry Services. In particular, the IIS revenue increase was driven by higher demand for our managed DNS solutions, to direct and manage Internet traffic. The decrease in our Registry Services revenue was driven by a reduction in revenue from

system enhancements, partially offset by continued growth in the number of domain names under management. Segment operating costs for Enterprise Services totaled \$22.5 million, a decrease of \$0.8 million. This decrease in segment operating costs was due to a decrease of \$1.8 million in personnel and personnel-related expense, partially offset by an increase of \$0.7 million in advertising and marketing costs.

Table of Contents

Enterprise Services segment revenue less its segment operating costs resulted in a segment contribution of \$22.4 million, an increase of \$2.1 million.

Information Services. Revenue from our Information Services operating segment increased \$0.9 million due to an increase of \$1.0 million in revenue from Verification & Analytics Services, an increase of \$0.9 million in revenue from Local Search & Licensed Data Services, and a decrease of \$1.0 million in Identification Services. In particular, the Verification & Analytics Services revenue increase was driven by new clients and continued demand for our services that provide customized commercial insights. In addition, Local Search & Licensed Data Services revenue increased due to higher demand for our online local business listing identity management solutions. Segment operating costs for Information Services totaled \$21.5 million, an increase of \$3.2 million. This increase in segment operating costs was due to an increase of \$1.9 million in personnel and personnel-related expense and an increase of \$1.2 million in information technology and systems costs. In particular, the increase in personnel and personnel and personnel-related expense was driven by increased headcount in sales and marketing. Information Services segment revenue less its segment operating costs resulted in a segment contribution of \$21.7 million, a decrease of \$2.3 million.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 The following table presents an overview of our results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013:

and 2013.	Nine Months I	Ended September	30.		
	2012	2013	2012 vs. 2013		
	\$	\$	\$ Change	% Change	
	(unaudited)	•			
	` '	ısands, except pe	er share data)		
Revenue:					
Carrier Services	\$375,922	\$406,381	\$30,459	8.1	%
Enterprise Services	125,204	133,466	8,262	6.6	%
Information Services	116,090	124,552	8,462	7.3	%
Total revenue	617,216	664,399	47,183	7.6	%
Operating expense:					
Cost of revenue (excludes depreciation and	127 264	150.050	12 506	9.9	%
amortization shown separately below)	137,364	150,950	13,586	9.9	%
Sales and marketing	117,466	124,468	7,002	6.0	%
Research and development	23,483	22,296	(1,187	(5.1)%
General and administrative	61,999	66,757	4,758	7.7	%
Depreciation and amortization	69,041	73,941	4,900	7.1	%
Restructuring charges	492	2	(490	(99.6)%
	409,845	438,414	28,569	7.0	%
Income from operations	207,371	225,985	18,614	9.0	%
Other (expense) income:					
Interest and other expense	(25,114	(28,851)	(3,737	14.9	%
Interest and other income	479	292	(187	(39.0)%
Income before income taxes	182,736	197,426	14,690	8.0	%
Provision for income taxes	64,429	72,725	8,296	12.9	%
Net income	\$118,307	\$124,701	\$6,394	5.4	%
Net income per share:					
Basic	\$1.77	\$1.91			
Diluted	\$1.74	\$1.87			
Weighted average common shares outstanding:					
Basic	66,880	65,223			
Diluted	67,961	66,713			
Revenue					

Carrier Services. Revenue from our Carrier Services operating segment increased \$30.5 million due to an increase of \$22.6 million in revenue from Numbering Services and an increase of \$8.0 million in revenue from our OMS. In particular, the Numbering Services revenue increase was driven by a \$20.0 million increase in the fixed fee established under our contracts to provide NPAC Services. The increase in our OMS revenue was driven by increased transactions from existing customers and the addition of new customers.

Enterprise Services. Revenue from our Enterprise Services operating segment increased \$8.3 million due to an increase of \$5.5 million in revenue from IIS and an increase of \$2.8 million in revenue from Registry Services. In particular, the IIS revenue increase was driven by higher demand for our managed DNS solutions to direct and manage Internet traffic. The increase in our Registry Services revenue was due to continued growth in the number of domain names under management.

Information Services. Revenue from our Information Services operating segment increased \$8.5 million due to an increase of \$7.5 million in revenue from Verification & Analytics Services, an increase of \$1.9 million in revenue from Local Search & Licensed Data Services, and a decrease of \$0.9 million in revenue from Identification Services.

In particular, the Verification & Analytics Services revenue increase was driven by new customers and continued demand for our services that

Table of Contents

provide customized commercial insights. In addition, Local Search & Licensed Data Services revenue increased due to higher demand for our online local business listing identity management solutions.

Expense

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue increased \$13.6 million due to an increase of \$6.7 million in costs related to our information technology and systems, an increase of \$3.8 million in personnel and personnel-related expense, and an increase of \$2.3 million in royalties. The increase in costs related to our information technology and systems was driven by revenue growth that resulted in increased data processing, telecommunications and maintenance costs. The increase in personnel and personnel-related expense was due to an increase in stock-based compensation and salary. The increase in stock-based compensation expense was driven by the grant of performance-based equity to a higher number of existing and new employees.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense increased \$7.0 million due to an increase of \$4.2 million in personnel and personnel-related expense and an increase of \$2.7 million in advertising and marketing costs. In particular, the increase in personnel and personnel-related expense was due to an increase in stock-based compensation and salary and benefits. The increase in stock-based compensation expense was driven by the grant of performance-based equity to a higher number of existing and new employees. The increase in salary and benefits was driven by increased headcount in our sales and marketing teams to support service offerings and the migration of employees to a common benefits plan. The increase in advertising and marketing costs was driven by costs incurred to promote awareness of our services and outsourced fees incurred to support our long-term sales strategy.

Research and development. Research and development expense decreased \$1.2 million due to a decrease of \$1.1 million in personnel and personnel-related expense.

General and administrative. General and administrative expense increased \$4.8 million due to an increase of \$2.5 million in personnel and personnel-related expense, an increase of \$1.2 million in bad debt expense, and an increase of \$0.5 million in general facilities costs. In particular, stock-based compensation expense increased \$3.4 million driven by the grant of performance-based equity to a higher number of existing and new employees. Depreciation and amortization and amortization expense increased \$4.9 million due to an increase of \$7.2 million in depreciation expense related to capitalized software costs. This increase was partially offset by a decrease of \$1.7 million in depreciation expense related to capital leases.

Restructuring charges. Restructuring charges for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 were comparable to the charges recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Interest and other expense. Interest and other expense increased \$3.7 million due to a \$10.9 million loss on debt modification and extinguishment recorded in connection with the refinancing of our 2011 Credit Facilities. This increase was partially offset by \$7.3 million in lower interest expense as a result of the refinancing of our 2011 Credit Facilities.

Interest and other income. Interest and other income for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 was comparable to the income for the nine months ended September 30, 2013.

Provision for income taxes. Our effective tax rate increased to 36.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 from 35.3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. During the nine months ended September 30, 2012, we recorded \$6.4 million of discrete tax benefits, primarily due to a net tax benefit associated with our domestic production activities deduction and utilization of foreign tax credits against federal income taxes. Excluding discrete tax benefits, our effective tax rate was approximately 38.8% and 37.9% for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

Summary of Operating Segments

The following table presents a summary of our operating segments' revenue, contribution and the reconciliation to income from operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013 (in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	2012	2013	2013 2012 vs. 2013		
	\$	\$	\$ Change	% Change	
Revenue:					
Carrier Services	\$375,922	\$406,381	\$30,459	8.1	%
Enterprise Services	125,204	133,466	8,262	6.6	%
Information Services	116,090	124,552	8,462	7.3	%
Total revenue	\$617,216	\$664,399	\$47,183	7.6	%
Segment contribution:					
Carrier Services	\$328,243	\$352,768	\$24,525	7.5	%
Enterprise Services	55,911	65,481	9,570	17.1	%
Information Services	59,069	57,620	(1,449) (2.5)%
Total segment contribution	443,223	475,869	32,646	7.4	%
Indirect operating expenses:					
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization shown separately below)	73,999	78,023	4,024	5.4	%
Sales and marketing	18,415	19,444	1,029	5.6	%
Research and development	13,561	13,379	(182) (1.3)%
General and administrative	60,344	65,095	4,751	7.9	%
Depreciation and amortization	69,041	73,941	4,900	7.1	%
Restructuring charges	492	2	(490) (99.6)%
Income from operations	\$207,371	\$225,985	\$18,614	9.0	%

Segment contribution is determined based on internal performance measures used by the CODM to assess the performance of each operating segment in a given period. In connection with this assessment, the CODM reviews revenue and segment contribution, which excludes certain unallocated costs within the following expense classifications: cost of revenue, sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative. Depreciation and amortization and restructuring charges are also excluded from the segment contribution. The following is a discussion of our operating segment results for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and 2013:

Carrier Services. Revenue from our Carrier Services operating segment increased \$30.5 million due to an increase of \$22.6 million in revenue from Numbering Services and an increase of \$8.0 million in revenue from our OMS. In particular, the Numbering Services revenue increase was driven by a \$20.0 million increase in the fixed fee established under our contracts to provide NPAC Services. The increase in our OMS revenue was driven by increased transactions from existing customers and the addition of new customers. Segment operating costs for Carrier Services totaled \$53.6 million, an increase of \$5.9 million. This increase in segment operating costs was due to an increase of \$4.2 million in information technology and systems costs and an increase of \$2.4 million in royalty expense. The increase in information and technology and systems costs was driven by increased data processing, telecommunications and maintenance costs. The increase in royalty expense was driven by revenue growth. Carrier Services segment revenue less its segment operating costs resulted in a segment contribution of \$352.8 million, an increase of \$24.5 million.

Enterprise Services. Revenue from our Enterprise Services operating segment increased \$8.3 million due to an increase of \$5.5 million in revenue from IIS and an increase of \$2.8 million in revenue from Registry Services. In particular, the IIS revenue increase was driven by higher demand for our managed DNS solutions to direct and manage Internet traffic. The increase in our Registry Services revenue was due to continued growth in the number of domain names under management. Segment operating costs for Enterprise Services totaled \$68.0 million, a decrease of \$1.3 million. This decrease in segment operating costs was due to a decrease of \$2.2 million in personnel and

personnel-related expense, partially offset by an increase of \$0.8 million in advertising and marketing costs. Enterprise Services segment revenue less its segment operating costs resulted in a segment contribution of \$65.5 million, an increase of \$9.6 million.

Information Services. Revenue from our Information Services operating segment increased \$8.5 million due to an increase of \$7.5 million in revenue from Verification & Analytics Services, an increase of \$1.9 million in revenue from Local Search & Licensed Data Services, and a decrease of \$0.9 million in revenue from Identification Services. In particular, the Verification & Analytics Services revenue increase was driven by new customers and continued demand for our services that provide customized commercial insights. In addition, Local Search & Licensed Data Services revenue increased due to higher demand for our online local business listing identity management solutions. Segment operating costs for Information Services totaled \$66.9 million, an increase of \$9.9 million. This increase in segment operating costs was due to an increase of \$6.8 million in personnel and personnel-related expense and an increase of \$2.4 million in information technology and systems costs. In particular, the increase in personnel and personnel-related expense was driven by increased headcount in sales and marketing. Information Services segment revenue less its segment operating costs resulted in a segment contribution of \$57.6 million, a decrease of \$1.4 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is cash provided by operating activities. Our principal uses of cash have been to fund share repurchases, capital expenditures, and debt service requirements. We anticipate that our principal uses of cash in the future will be for acquisitions, share repurchases, capital expenditures and debt service requirements.

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments were \$352.7 million at September 30, 2013, an increase of \$8.8 million from \$343.9 million at December 31, 2012. This increase in cash, cash equivalents and investments was primarily due to cash provided by operations.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash from operations and available borrowings under our credit facilities will be sufficient to fund our operations for the next twelve months. Credit Facilities

On January 22, 2013, we entered into a credit facility that provided for a \$325 million senior secured term loan facility, or 2013 Term Facility, and a \$200 million senior secured revolving credit facility, or the 2013 Revolving Facility, and together with the 2013 Term Facility, the 2013 Credit Facilities. In addition, we closed an offering of \$300 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes, or Senior Notes. We used the proceeds received from the 2013 Term Facility and Senior Notes to repay our outstanding principal borrowings of \$592.5 million under our existing 2011 Term Facility. We used available borrowings under the new 2013 Revolving Facility to secure outstanding letters of credit totaling \$7.8 million that were previously secured by our 2011 Revolving Facility. Our 2011 Term Facility and 2011 Revolving Facility were terminated in connection with this refinancing event. For further discussion of this debt refinancing, see Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this report.

2013 Credit Facilities

The 2013 Credit Facilities include: (1) the 2013 Term Facility; (2) the 2013 Revolving Facility, of which (a) \$100 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit and (b) \$25 million is available as a swingline subfacility; and (3) incremental term loan facilities in an amount such that after giving effect to the incurrence of any such incremental loans, either (a) the aggregate amount of incremental loans does not exceed \$400 million or (b) the Consolidated Secured Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis after giving effect to any such increase would not exceed 2.50 to 1.00. The 2013 Revolving Facility and 2013 Term Facility mature on January 22, 2018. As of September 30, 2013, we had not borrowed any amounts under the 2013 Revolving Facility and available borrowings were \$192.0 million, exclusive of outstanding letters of credit totaling \$8.0 million.

Principal payments under the 2013 Term Facility of \$2.0 million are due on the last day of the quarter beginning on March 31, 2013 and ending on December 31, 2017. The remaining 2013 Term Facility principal balance of \$284.4 million is due in full on January 22, 2018, subject to early mandatory prepayments.

The loans outstanding under the 2013 Credit Facilities (Loans) bear interest, at our option, either: (1) at the base rate, which is defined as the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) the interest rate published by the Wall Street Journal from time to time as the "U.S. Prime Rate" and (c) the adjusted LIBOR rate for a one-month interest period beginning on such day plus 1.00%; or (2) at the LIBOR rate plus, in each case, an applicable margin. The applicable margin is (1) if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is less than 2.00:1.00, 0.50% per annum for borrowings

based on the base rate and 1.50% per annum for borrowings based on the LIBOR rate, or (2) if the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is 2.00:1.00 or greater, 0.75% per annum for borrowings based on the base rate and 1.75% per annum borrowings based on the LIBOR rate. The accrued interest under the 2013 Term Facility is payable quarterly beginning on March 31, 2013.

Table of Contents

We may voluntarily prepay the Loans at any time in minimum amounts of \$1 million or an integral multiple of \$500,000 in excess thereof. The 2013 Credit Facilities provide for mandatory prepayments with the net cash proceeds of certain debt issuances, insurance receipts, and dispositions. The 2013 Term Facility also contains certain events of default, upon the occurrence of which, and so long as such event of default is continuing, the amounts outstanding may, at the option of the required lenders, accrue interest at an increased rate and payments of such outstanding amounts could be accelerated, or other remedies undertaken.

As of September 30, 2013, deferred financing costs and loan origination fees related to the 2013 Credit Facilities were \$8.9 million. Total amortization expense of the deferred financing costs and loan origination fees was \$0.5 million and \$1.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, and was reported as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Senior Notes

On January 22, 2013, we closed an offering of \$300 million aggregate principal amount of 4.50% senior notes due 2023 to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A, and outside of the United States pursuant to Regulation S, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of January 22, 2013, among us, certain of our domestic subsidiaries, or the Subsidiary Guarantors, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee, or the Indenture. The Senior Notes are the general unsecured senior obligations of us and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Subsidiary Guarantors.

Interest is payable on the Senior Notes semi-annually in arrears at an annual rate of 4.50%, on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15, 2013. The Senior Notes will mature on January 15, 2023. Interest accrues from January 22, 2013. As of September 30, 2013, accrued interest under the Senior Notes was \$2.8 million.

At any time and from time to time prior to July 15, 2016, we may redeem up to a maximum of 35% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings, at a redemption price equal to 104.50% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date); provided that: (1) at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes remains outstanding; and (2) the redemption occurs within 90 days of the completion of such equity offering upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior notice.

Prior to January 15, 2018, we may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes by paying a "make-whole" premium based on U.S. Treasury rates. During the 12-month period commencing on January 15 of the relevant year listed below, we may redeem some or all of the Senior Notes at the prices listed below, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date (subject to the right of holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date): 2018 at a redemption price of 102.25%; 2019 at a redemption price of 101.50%; 2020 at a redemption price of 100.75%; and 2021 and thereafter at a redemption price of 100.00%. If we experience certain changes of control together with a ratings downgrade, we will be required to offer to purchase all of the Senior Notes then outstanding at a purchase price equal to 101.00% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, the date of purchase. If we sell certain assets and do not repay certain debt or reinvest the proceeds of such sales within certain time periods, we will be required to offer to repurchase the Senior Notes with such proceeds at 100.00% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase. The Senior Notes contain customary events of default, including among other things, payment default, failure to provide certain notices and defaults related to bankruptcy events. The Senior Notes also contain customary negative covenants.

As of September 30, 2013, deferred financing costs related to the Senior Notes were \$14.6 million. Total amortization expense of the deferred financing costs was \$0.3 million and \$0.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, and is reported as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Discussion of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operations

Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$211.0 million, as compared to \$201.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. This \$9.6 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities was the result of an increase in net income of \$6.4 million, and increase in non-cash

adjustments of \$18.9 million, partially offset by a decrease in net changes in operating assets and liabilities of \$15.7 million.

Table of Contents

Non-cash adjustments increased \$18.9 million driven by a loss on debt modification and extinguishment of \$10.9 million recorded in the first quarter of 2013 related to our debt refinancing, an increase of \$7.7 million in stock-based compensation, an increase of \$4.9 million in depreciation and amortization expense, and an increase of \$1.2 million in bad debt expense. These increases in non-cash adjustments were partially offset by a decrease of \$5.6 million in deferred income taxes.

Net changes in operating assets and liabilities decreased \$15.7 million primarily due to a decrease of \$32.9 million in income taxes receivable, a decrease of \$13.9 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets, and a decrease of \$6.5 million in deferred revenue. These decreases in net changes in operating assets and liabilities were partially offset by an increase of \$24.5 million in accounts and unbilled receivables, an increase of \$10.5 million in accounts payable and accrued expenses, and an increase of \$3.1 million in other liabilities.

Cash flows from investing

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was \$40.2 million, as compared to \$31.2 million for nine months ended September 30, 2012. This \$9.0 million increase in net cash used in investing activities was due to an increase of \$8.5 million in cash used for the acquisition of certain assets of a service order administrative business.

Cash flows from financing

Net cash used in financing activities was \$158.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to \$31.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. This \$127.1 million increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to an increase of \$116.0 million in cash used for the purchase of our Class A common stock under our share repurchase programs, a decrease of \$33.9 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options, and cash used of \$11.4 million for debt issuance costs attributable to our debt refinancing completed in the first quarter of 2013. These increases in cash used were partially offset by net proceeds of \$31.7 million attributable to our debt refinancing, and a decrease of \$2.8 million in cash used for the purchase of restricted stock awards attributable to participants' electing to use stock to satisfy their tax withholdings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part 1 of this report for a discussion of the effects of recent accounting pronouncements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

None.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

For quantitative and qualitative disclosures about our market risk, see "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" in Item 7A of Part II of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. Our exposure to market risk has not changed materially since December 31, 2012.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As of September 30, 2013, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at the reasonable assurance level.

Table of Contents

In addition, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the third quarter of 2013 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are subject to claims in legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. We do not believe that we are party to any pending legal action that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business or operating results.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following sets forth risk factors associated with our business. The risks set forth below could materially affect our business, financial condition and future results and are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results.

Risks related to our business

The loss of, or damage to, a data center or any other failure or interruption to our network infrastructure could materially harm our revenue and impair our ability to conduct our operations.

Because virtually all of the services we provide require our customers to query a copy of our continuously updated databases and directories to obtain necessary routing, operational and marketing data, the integrity of our data centers, including network elements managed by third parties throughout the world, and the systems through which we deliver our services are essential to our business. Notably, certain of our data centers and related systems are essential to the orderly operation of the U.S. telecommunications system because they enable carriers to ensure that telephone calls are routed to the appropriate destinations.

Our system architecture is integral to our ability to process a high volume of transactions in a timely and effective manner. Moreover, both we and our customers rely on hardware, software and other equipment developed, supported and maintained by third-party providers. We could experience failures or interruptions of our systems and services, or other problems in connection with our operations, as a result of, for example:

damage to, or failure of, our computer software or hardware or our connections to, and outsourced service arrangements with, third parties;

failure of, or defects in, the third-party systems, software or equipment on which we or our customers rely to access our data centers and other systems;

errors in the processing of data by our systems;

computer viruses, malware or software defects;

physical or electronic break-ins, sabotage, distributed denial of service, or DDoS, penetration attacks, intentional acts of vandalism and similar events;

increased capacity demands or changes in systems requirements of our customers;

virtual hijacking of traffic destined to our systems;

power loss, communications failures, pandemics, wars, acts of terrorism, political unrest or other man-made or natural disasters; and

successful DDoS attacks.

We may not have sufficient redundant systems or back-up facilities to allow us to receive and process data if one of the foregoing events occurs. Further, increases in the scope of services that we provide increase the complexity of our network infrastructure. As the scope of services we provide expands or changes in the future, we may be required to make significant expenditures to establish new data centers and acquire additional network capacity from which we may provide services. Moreover, as we add customers, expand our service offerings and increase our visibility in the market we may become a more likely target of attacks similar to those listed in the bullets above. The number of electronic attacks and viruses grows

significantly every year, as does the sophistication of these attacks. For example, undetected attackers may be able to monitor unencrypted Internet traffic anywhere in the world and modify it before it reaches our destination, and these attackers may harm our customers by stealing personal or proprietary information, Internet email or IP addresses. If we are not able to react to threats quickly and effectively and stop attackers from exploiting vulnerabilities or circumventing our security measures, the integrity of our systems and networks, and those of our customers and trading partners, may be adversely affected. If we cannot adequately secure and protect the ability of our data centers, offices, networks and related systems to perform consistently at a high level and without interruptions, or if we otherwise fail to meet our customers' expectations:

our reputation may be damaged, which may adversely affect our ability to market our services and attract or retain customers;

we may be subject to significant penalties or damages claims, under our contracts or otherwise;

we may be required to make significant expenditures to repair or replace equipment, third-party systems or an entire data center, to establish new data centers and systems from which we may provide services or to take other required corrective action; or

one or more of our significant contracts may be terminated early, or may not be renewed.

Any of these consequences would adversely affect our revenue, performance and business prospects.

If our security measures are breached and personally identifiable information is obtained by an unauthorized person, we may be subject to litigation and our services may also be perceived as not being secure and customers may curtail or stop using our services.

Many of our products and services, such as our registry, UltraViolet,™nobile and information service offerings may involve the storage and transmission of consumer information, such as names, addresses, email addresses and other personally identifiable information, and security breaches could expose us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible liability. If someone obtains unauthorized access to consumers' data, as a result of third-party action, technical malfunctions, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, our reputation, brands and competitive position will be damaged, the adoption of our products and services could be severely limited, and we could incur costly litigation and significant liability, any of which may cause our business to suffer. Accordingly, we may need to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches, including encrypting personal information, or remedy breaches after they occur, including notifying each person whose personal data may have been compromised. The risk that these types of events could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as we expand the scale and scope of information services we offer and the number of Internet or DNS-based products and services we offer, and increase the number of countries in which we operate. Even a perceived breach of our security measures could damage the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures and our reputation, and we could lose sales, existing and future business opportunities and customers, and potentially face costly litigation.

Our seven contracts with North American Portability Management LLC represent in the aggregate a substantial

Our seven contracts with North American Portability Management LLC represent in the aggregate a substantial portion of our revenue, are not exclusive and could be terminated or modified in ways unfavorable to us. These contracts are due to expire in June 2015 and we may not win a competitive procurement.

Our seven contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, or NAPM, an industry group that represents all carriers in the United States, to provide NPAC Services are not exclusive and could be terminated or modified in ways unfavorable to us. These seven separate contracts, each of which represented between 4.5% and 9.2% of our total revenue in 2012, represented in the aggregate approximately 49.4% of our total revenue in 2012. These contracts have finite terms and are currently scheduled to expire in June 2015.

NAPM has initiated a selection process for the administration of NPAC services at the expiration of the current contract. The FCC Wireline Competition Bureau has released a Request for Proposal, or RFP. The most recent selection timeline published by NAPM anticipates that the NAPM will make a recommendation to the FCC in November 2013 with the FCC approval of the recommendation to be completed in January 2014. These dates are subject to change.

We expect that there will be significant competition as a result of this process. We may not win this competitive procurement if another provider offers to provide the same or similar services at a lower cost. The failure to win the competitive procurement would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and

results of operations. Even if we win the competitive procurement, the new contracts may have different pricing structures or performance requirements than are currently in effect, which could negatively affect our operating performance and may result in additional costs and expenses and possibly lower revenues.

In addition, under our current contracts, NAPM could, at any time, solicit or receive proposals from other providers to provide services that are the same as or similar to ours. These contracts can be terminated or modified in advance of their scheduled expiration date in limited circumstances, most notably if we are in default of these agreements. Although these contracts do not contain cross-default provisions, conditions leading to a default by us under one of our contracts could lead to a default under others, or all seven. If these contracts are terminated or modified in a manner that is adverse to us, it would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

A significant decline in the volume of transactions we handle could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Under our contracts with NAPM, we earn revenue for NPAC Services on an annual, fixed-fee basis. However, in the event that the volume of transactions in a given year is above or below the contractually established volume range for that year, the fixed-fee may be adjusted up or down, respectively, with any such adjustment being applied to the following year's invoices. In addition, under our contract with the Canadian LNP Consortium Inc., we earn revenue on a per transaction basis. As a result, if industry participants in the United States reduce their usage of our services in a particular year to levels below the established volume range for that year or if industry participants in Canada reduce their usage of our services from their current levels, our revenue and results of operations may suffer. For example, consolidation in the industry could result in a decline in transactions if the remaining carriers decide to handle changes to their networks internally rather than use the services that we provide. Moreover, if customer turnover among carriers in the industry stabilizes or declines, or if carriers do not compete vigorously to lure customers away from their competitors, use of our telephone number portability and other services may decline. If carriers develop internal systems to address their infrastructure needs, or if the cost of such transactions makes it impractical for a given carrier to use our services for these purposes, we may experience a reduction in transaction volumes. Carriers might be able to charge consumers directly for our services, which could also have an adverse impact on transaction volumes. Finally, the trends that we believe will drive the future demand for our services, such as the emergence of IP services, growth of wireless services, consolidation in the industry, and pressure on carriers to reduce costs, may not actually result in increased demand for our existing services or for the ancillary directory services that we expect to offer, which would harm our future revenue and growth prospects.

Certain of our other contracts may be terminated or modified at any time prior to their completion, which could lead to an unexpected loss of revenue and damage our reputation.

In addition to our contracts with NAPM, we provide other services that generate revenue and bolster our reputation as a premier data services, infrastructure, and solutions provider to the communications sector, other major enterprises in a wide variety of sectors, trade associations, and government agencies. For example, we serve as the provider of NPAC Services in Canada; as operator of the .biz registry under contract with ICANN; as operator of the registry of U.S. Common Short Codes; as the provider of DNS services to a wide variety of major corporations, and as a provider of data services to major retailers and marketers. Each of these contracts provides for early termination in limited circumstances, most notably if we are in default. In addition, our contracts to serve as the North American Numbering Plan Administrator and as the National Pooling Administrator, each of which is with the U.S. government, may be terminated by the government at will. If we fail to meet the expectations of the FCC, the U.S. Department of Commerce or any of our other major customers for any reason, including for performance-related or other reasons, the customers may unilaterally terminate or modify the contracts. A termination arising out of our default could expose us to liability, adversely affect our operating performance and lead to an unexpected loss of revenue. Further, the loss or significant modification of a major contract could cause us to suffer a loss of reputation that would make it more difficult for us to compete for contracts to provide similar services in the future.

Failure to comply with neutrality requirements could result in loss of significant contracts.

Pursuant to orders and regulations of the U.S. government and provisions contained in our material contracts, we must continue to comply with certain neutrality requirements, meaning generally that we cannot favor any particular telecommunications service provider, telecommunications industry segment or technology or group of telecommunications consumers over any other telecommunications service provider, industry segment, technology or group of consumers in the conduct of our business. The FCC oversees our compliance with the neutrality

requirements applicable to us in connection with some of the services we provide. We provide to the FCC and the North American Numbering Council, a federal advisory committee established by the FCC to advise and make recommendations on telephone numbering issues, regular certifications relating to our compliance with these requirements. Our ability to comply with the neutrality requirements to which we are subject may be affected by the activities of our stockholders or lenders. For example, if the ownership of our capital stock subjects us to undue influence by parties with a vested interest in the outcome of numbering administration, the FCC could determine that we are not in compliance with our neutrality obligations. Our failure to continue to comply with the neutrality requirements to which we are subject under applicable orders and regulations of the U.S. government and commercial contracts

Table of Contents

may result in fines, corrective measures, termination of our contracts, or exclusion from bidding on future contracts, any one of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Regulatory and statutory changes that affect us or the communications industry in general may increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business.

Certain of our domestic operations and many of our customers' operations are subject to regulation by the FCC and other federal, state and local agencies. As communications technologies and the communications industry continue to evolve, the statutes governing the communications industry or the regulatory policies of the FCC may change. If this were to occur, the demand for many of our services could change in ways that we cannot predict and our revenue could decline. These risks include the ability of the federal government, most notably the FCC and the Department of Commerce, to:

increase or change regulatory oversight over services we provide;

adopt or modify statutes, regulations, policies, procedures or programs in ways that are disadvantageous to the services we provide, or that are inconsistent with our current or future plans, or that require modification of the terms of our existing contracts or contracts like the NPAC that are subject to a competitive procurement process, including the manner in which we charge for certain of our services. For example,

in November 2005 and in 2010, major carriers filed petitions with the FCC seeking changes in the way our customers are billed for services provided by us under our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC; Verizon Corporation filed a similar petition with the FCC in May 2011, and

after the amendment of our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC in September 2006, Telcordia Technologies, Inc. filed a petition with the FCC requesting an order that would require North American Portability Management LLC to conduct a new bidding process to appoint a provider of telephone number portability services in the United States. In response to our amendment of these contracts in January 2009, Telcordia filed another petition asking that the FCC abrogate these contracts and initiate a government managed procurement in their place. If successful, either of these petitions could result in the loss of one or more of our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC or otherwise frustrate our strategic plans. Although the FCC has not initiated a formal rulemaking process on either of the Telcordia petitions, the FCC's Wireline Competition Bureau issued orders on March 8, 2011 and May 16, 2011 for NAPM to complete a selection process for the administration of NPAC Services at the expiration of the current contracts. See "—Our seven contracts with North American Portability Management LLC represent in the aggregate a substantial portion of our revenue, are not exclusive and could be terminated or modified in ways unfavorable to us. These contracts are due to expire in June 2015 and we may not win a competitive procurement";

prohibit us from entering into new contracts or extending existing contracts to provide services to the communications industry based on actual or suspected violations of our neutrality requirements, business performance concerns, or other reasons;

adopt or modify statutes, regulations, policies, procedures or programs in a way that could cause changes to our operations or costs or the operations of our customers (e.g., regulatory changes to support migration of public switched telephone network to IP Carrier Interconnect);

appoint, or cause others to appoint, substitute or add additional parties to perform the services that we currently provide including abrogation of our contracts to provide NPAC Services; and

prohibit or restrict the provision or export of new or expanded services under our contracts, or prevent the introduction of other services not under the contracts based upon restrictions within the contracts or in FCC policies. In addition, we are subject to risks arising out of the delegation of the Department of Commerce's responsibilities for the domain name system to ICANN. Changes in the regulations or statutes to which our customers are subject could cause our customers to alter or decrease the services they purchase from us. We cannot predict when, or upon what terms and conditions, further regulation, deregulation or litigation designed to delay or prevent the introduction of new top-level domains might occur or the effect future regulation or deregulation may have on our business.

Table of Contents

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, the value of our services and solutions could be diminished.

Our success is dependent in part on obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our proprietary rights and our ability to avoid infringing on the proprietary rights of others. While we take precautionary steps to protect our technological advantages and intellectual property and rely in part on patent, trademark, trade secret and copyright laws, we cannot assure that the precautionary steps we have taken will completely protect our intellectual property rights. Effectively policing our intellectual property is time consuming and costly, and the steps taken by us may not prevent infringement of our intellectual property or proprietary rights in our products, technology and trademarks, particularly in foreign countries where in many instances the local laws or legal systems do not offer the same level of protection as in the United States. Further, because patent applications in the United States are maintained in secrecy until either the patent application is published or a patent is issued, we may not be aware of third-party patents, patent applications and other intellectual property relevant to our services and solutions that may block our use of our intellectual property or may be used by third-parties who compete with our services and solutions. As we expand our business and introduce new services and solutions, there may be an increased risk of infringement and other intellectual property claims by third-parties. From time to time, we and our customers may receive claims alleging infringement of intellectual property rights, or may become aware of certain third-party patents that may relate to our services and solutions.

Additionally, some of our customer agreements require that we indemnify our customers for infringement claims resulting from their use of our intellectual property embedded in their products. Any litigation regarding patents or other intellectual property could be costly and time consuming and could divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. The complexity of the technology involved, and the number of parties holding intellectual property within the communications industry, increase the risks associated with intellectual property litigation. Moreover, the commercial success of our services and solutions may increase the risk that an infringement claim may be made against us. Royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Any infringement claim successfully asserted against us or against a customer for which we have an obligation to defend could result in costly litigation, the payment of substantial damages, and an injunction that prohibits us from continuing to offer the service or solution in question, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

The market for our carrier, enterprise and information services is competitive, and if we do not adapt to rapid technological change, we could lose customers or market share.

We compete against well-funded providers of carrier, enterprise and information services, communications software companies and system integrators that provide systems and services used by carriers and enterprises to manage their networks and internal operations in connection with telephone number portability and other communications transactions. In addition, our industry is characterized by rapid technological change and frequent new service offerings. Significant technological changes could make our technology and services obsolete. We must adapt to our rapidly changing market by continually improving the features, functionality, reliability and responsiveness of our services, and by developing new features, services and applications to meet changing customer needs. Our ability to take advantage of opportunities in the market may require us to invest in development and incur other expenses well in advance of our ability to generate revenue from these services. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to adapt to these challenges or respond successfully or in a cost-effective way, particularly in the early stages of launching a new service. Further, we may experience delays in the development of one or more features of our solutions, which could materially reduce the potential benefits to us for providing these services. In addition, there can be no assurance that our solutions will be adopted by potential customers, or that we will be able to reach acceptable contract terms with customers to provide these services. Our failure to adapt to meet market demand in a cost-effective manner could adversely affect our ability to compete and retain customers or market share.

If we are not able to obtain the data required to provide our information services, or we obtain inaccurate data, our operating results could be adversely affected.

Much of the data that we use in connection with our Information Services segment is purchased or licensed from third parties, obtained from public record sources or provided to us as part of a broader business relationship with a

customer. If we are not able to obtain this data on favorable economic terms or otherwise, or if the data we obtain is inaccurate, our ability to provide information services to our clients could be materially adversely impacted, which could result in decreased revenues, net income and earnings per share.

Table of Contents

Regulatory and statutory requirements, changes in requirements regarding privacy and data protection or public perceptions of data usage may increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business.

Our business operations are subject to a variety of complex privacy and data protection laws and regulations in the United States and in other jurisdictions. These statutory and regulatory requirements are evolving and may change significantly. Judicial and regulatory application and interpretation of these statutory and regulatory requirements are often uncertain. In addition, data usage both by governments and corporations is currently a matter of keen public concern and press attention. We may need to incur significant costs or modify our business practices and/ or our services in order to comply with existing or revised laws and regulations, or to adapt to changing public attitudes about data usage. Any such costs or changes could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or prospects. If we are not able to comply with applicable laws, we may be subject to significant monetary penalties and/or orders demanding that we cease alleged noncompliant activities. These or other remedies could have a material adverse effect on our results of operation or financial condition. Our failure or alleged failure to comply with privacy and data protection laws, or with public attitudes about data usage, could harm our reputation, result in legal actions against us by governmental authorities or private claimants or cause us to lose customers, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or prospects.

In addition, new legislation may be passed or judicial interpretations may be issued that restrict our use of data to provide information services to our clients. Any restrictions on our ability to provide these services to our clients could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation, financial condition and prospects. If we are unable to manage our costs, our profits could be adversely affected.

Historically, sustaining our growth has placed significant demands on our management as well as on our administrative, operational and financial resources. For us to continue to manage our expanded operations, as well as any future growth, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and management information systems and expand, motivate and manage our workforce. If our quality of service is compromised because we are unable to successfully manage our costs, or if new systems that we implement to assist in managing our operations do not produce the expected benefits, we may experience higher turnover in our customer base and our revenue and profits could be adversely affected.

Changes in our tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our profitability. In addition, audits by tax authorities could result in additional tax payments for prior periods.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and in various non-U.S. jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate can be affected by changes in our mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates (including as a result of business acquisitions and dispositions), changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, establishment of accruals related to contingent tax liabilities and period-to-period changes in such accruals, the expiration of statutes of limitations, the implementation of tax planning strategies and changes in tax laws. The impact of these factors may be substantially different from period to period. Due to the ambiguity of tax laws and the subjectivity of factual interpretations, our estimates of income tax liabilities may differ from actual payments or assessments. In addition, our income tax returns are subject to ongoing audits by U.S. federal, state and local tax authorities and by non-U.S. tax authorities. If these audits result in payments or assessments different from our reserves, our future results may include unfavorable adjustments to our tax liabilities, which may negatively affect our results of operations. Our operating results and margins could fluctuate due to factors relating to stock-based compensation. Similar to many other companies, we use stock awards as a form of compensation for certain employees and non-employee directors. We must recognize the fair value of all stock-based awards, including grants of employee stock options, in our financial statements. The valuation model we use to estimate the fair value of our stock-based awards requires us to make several estimates and assumptions, such as the expected holding period of the awards and expected price volatility of our common stock. The amount we recognize for stock-based compensation expense could vary materially depending on changes in these estimates and assumptions. Other factors that could impact the amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize include changes in the mix and type of stock-based awards we grant, changes in our compensation plans or tax rate, changes in the award forfeiture rate and differences in our company's actual operating results compared to management's estimates for performance-based awards.

Changes in accounting principles and guidance, or their interpretation, could result in unfavorable accounting charges or effects, including changes to previously filed financial statements.

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. These principles are subject to interpretation by the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate

Table of Contents

accounting principles and guidance. A change in these principles or guidance, or in their interpretations, may have a significant effect on our reported results and may retroactively affect previously reported results.

We must recruit and retain skilled employees to succeed in our business, and our failure to recruit and retain qualified employees could harm our ability to maintain and grow our business.

We believe that an integral part of our success is our ability to recruit and retain employees who have advanced skills in the services and solutions that we provide and who work well with our customers. In particular, we must hire and retain employees with the technical expertise and industry knowledge necessary to maintain and continue to develop our operations and who can effectively manage our growing sales and marketing organization to ensure the growth of our operations. Our future success depends on the ability of the employees in our sales and marketing organization to establish direct sales channels and to develop multiple distribution channels. The employees with the skills we require are in great demand and are likely to remain a limited resource in the foreseeable future. If we are unable to recruit and retain a sufficient number of these employees at all levels, our ability to maintain and grow our business could be negatively impacted.

Any adverse change in reputation, whether as a result of decreases in revenue, an unfavorable outcome in the competitive procurement process for the new contracts with NAPM, a decline in the market price of our common stock or for any other reason, could impair our ability to retain existing employees or attract additional qualified employees with the requisite experience, expertise and knowledge.

Our failure to achieve or sustain market acceptance of our services at desired pricing levels could impact our ability to maintain profitability or positive cash flow.

Our competitors and customers may cause us to reduce the prices we charge for our services and solutions. The primary sources of pricing pressure include:

competitors offering our customers services at reduced prices, or bundling and pricing services in a manner that makes it difficult for us to compete. For example, a competing provider of Internet infrastructure services might offer its services at lower rates than we do, or a competing domain name registry provider may reduce its prices for domain name registration;

customers with a significant volume of transactions may have enhanced leverage in pricing negotiations with us; and if our prices are too high, potential customers may find it economically advantageous to handle certain functions internally instead of using our services.

We may not be able to offset the effects of any price reductions by increasing the number of transactions we handle or the number of customers we serve, by generating higher revenue from enhanced services or by reducing our costs. Our expansion into international markets may be subject to uncertainties that could increase our costs to comply with regulatory requirements in foreign jurisdictions, disrupt our operations, and require increased focus from our management.

We currently provide services to customers located in various international locations such as Brazil, Taiwan and China. We intend to pursue additional international business opportunities. International operations and business expansion plans are subject to numerous additional risks, including:

economic and political risks in foreign jurisdictions in which we operate or seek to operate;

difficulties in enforcing contracts and collecting receivables through foreign legal systems;

differences in foreign laws and regulations, including foreign tax, intellectual property, privacy, labor and contract law, as well as unexpected changes in legal and regulatory requirements;

differing technology standards and pace of adoption;

export restrictions on encryption and other technologies;

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and any imposition of currency exchange controls;

increased competition by local, regional, or global companies; and

difficulties associated with managing a large organization spread throughout various countries.

Table of Contents

If we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage these and other risks associated with our international operations. However, any of these factors could adversely affect our international operations and, consequently, our operating results.

If we are not successful in growing our new Information Services business at the rate that we anticipate, our operating results could be negatively impacted.

The operations of Targus Information Corporation ("TARGUSinfo"), which we acquired in November 2011, comprise our new Information Services segment. We are shifting our business to focus increasingly on sales of information services in addition to our carrier and enterprise services. Our ability to successfully grow our information services business depends on a number of different factors, including market acceptance of our information services, the expansion of our information services capabilities and geographic coverage, and continued public and regulatory acceptance of data usage for the provision of our information services, among others. If we are not successful in growing our information services business at the rate that we anticipate, we may not meet expected growth and gross margin projections or expectations, and our operating results, prospects and the market price of our securities could be adversely affected.

We may be unable to complete acquisitions, or we may undertake acquisitions that increase our costs or liabilities or are disruptive to our business.

We have made a number of acquisitions in the past, and one of our strategies is to pursue acquisitions selectively in the future. We may not be able to locate acquisition candidates at prices that we consider appropriate or on terms that are satisfactory to us. If we do identify an appropriate acquisition candidate, we may not be able to successfully negotiate the terms of the acquisition or, if the acquisition occurs, integrate the acquired business into our existing business. Acquisitions of businesses or other material operations may require additional debt or equity financing, resulting in additional leverage or dilution to our stockholders.

Integration of acquired business operations is a time consuming process that could disrupt our business by diverting significant management attention and resources away from day-to-day operations. The difficulties of integration may be increased by the necessity of coordinating geographically dispersed organizations, integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and combining different corporate cultures. It is also possible that the integration process could result in the loss of key employees, the disruption of each company's ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies that adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, suppliers, distributors, creditors, or lessors, or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the acquisition. Further, if we cannot successfully integrate an acquired company's internal control over financial reporting, the reliability of our financial statements may be impaired and we may not be able to meet our reporting obligations under applicable law. Any such impairment or failure could cause investor confidence and, in turn, the market price of our common stock, to be materially adversely affected.

Even if we are able to integrate acquired businesses successfully, there can be no assurance that we will realize the full benefits of the cost efficiencies or synergies or other benefits that we anticipated when selecting our acquisition candidates or that these benefits will be achieved within a reasonable period of time, and we may be required to invest significant capital and resources after acquisition to maintain or grow the businesses that we acquire. In addition, we may need to record write-downs from impairments of goodwill, intangible assets, or long-lived assets, or record adjustments to the purchase price that occur after the closing of the transaction, which could reduce our future reported earnings. If we fail to successfully integrate and support the operations of the businesses we acquire, or if anticipated revenue enhancements and cost savings are not realized from these acquired businesses, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially adversely affected. Further, acquired businesses may have unforeseen liabilities, neutrality-related risks or adverse operating issues that we fail to discover through due diligence prior to the acquisition. These liabilities could include employment, retirement or severance-related obligations under applicable law, other benefits arrangements, legal claims, warranty or similar liabilities to customers, claims by or amounts owed to vendors, tax liabilities or other amounts owed by the acquired companies. The failure to discover such issues prior to such acquisition, should they be significant, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Risks related to financial market conditions

We may be unable to raise additional capital, if needed, or to raise capital on favorable terms. The general economic and capital market conditions in the United States and other parts of the world have deteriorated significantly since 2008 and have adversely affected access to capital and increased the cost of capital. If funds generated by our operations or available under our 2013 Credit Facilities are insufficient to fund our future activities, including acquisitions, organic business ventures, or capital expenditures, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing. If unfavorable capital market conditions exist when we seek additional financing, we may not be able to raise

Table of Contents

sufficient capital on favorable terms or at all. Failure to obtain capital on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and we may not be able to fund further organic and inorganic growth of our business.

Risks related to the notes and our other indebtedness

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under the notes.

As of September 30, 2013, borrowings under our 2013 Credit Facilities and Senior Notes was approximately \$618.3 million, and we had unused revolving commitments of \$192.0 million (after giving effect to \$8.0 million of outstanding letters of credit). In addition, the 2013 Term Facility allows us to request one or more increases to the available term commitments under such facility. We are entitled to request such increases in an amount such that, after giving effect to such increases, either (a) the aggregate amount of increases does not exceed \$400 million or (b) our consolidated secured leverage ratio on a pro forma basis after giving effect to any such increase is below 2.50 to 1.00. As of September 30, 2013, the total amount of such potential incremental increases we could request was approximately \$748.8 million.

Subject to the limits contained in the credit agreement that governs our 2013 Term Facility, the indenture that governs the Senior Notes and our other debt instruments, we may be able to incur substantial additional debt from time to time to finance investments or acquisitions, or for other general corporate purposes. If we do so, the risks related to our level of debt could intensify. Specifically, our level of debt could have important consequences to the holders of our securities, including the following:

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to the Senior Notes and our other debt; dimiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future acquisitions or other general corporate requirements; requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other purposes, thereby reducing the amount of cash flows available for acquisitions and other general corporate purposes; increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings, including borrowings under our 2013 Term Facility, are at variable rates of interest;

4 imiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which we compete;

placing us at a disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors; and

increasing our cost of borrowing.

In addition, the indenture that governs the Senior Notes and the credit agreement that governs our 2013 Term Facility contain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interest. Our failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all our debt.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt or equity capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. The credit agreement that governs our 2013 Term Facility and the indenture that governs the Senior Notes restricts our ability to dispose of assets and use the proceeds from those dispositions and also restrict our ability to raise debt or equity capital to be used to repay other indebtedness when it becomes due. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain proceeds in an amount sufficient to meet any debt service obligations then due.

Table of Contents

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations would materially and adversely affect our financial position and results of operations and our ability to satisfy our debt obligations.

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and holders of the Senior Notes could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable, the lenders under our 2013 Term Facility could terminate their commitments to loan money, the lenders could foreclose against the assets securing their borrowings and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly.

Borrowings under our 2013 Term Facility will be at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest rate risk. If interest rates were to increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income and cash flows, including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, will correspondingly decrease. Assuming all loans are fully drawn, each quarter point change in interest rates would result in a \$1.3 million change in annual interest expense on our indebtedness under our 2013 Term Facility. In the future, we may enter into interest rate swaps that involve the exchange of floating for fixed rate interest payments in order to reduce interest rate volatility. However, we may not maintain interest rate swaps with respect to all of our variable rate indebtedness, and any swaps we enter into may not fully mitigate our interest rate risk.

A lowering or withdrawal of the ratings assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may increase our future borrowing costs and reduce our access to capital.

Our debt currently has a non-investment grade rating, and any rating assigned could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that rating agency's judgment, future circumstances relating to the basis of the rating, such as adverse changes, so warrant. Any downgrade by either Standard & Poor's or Moody's could increase the interest rate on the 2013 Credit Facilities, result in higher borrowing costs and decrease earnings. Any future adverse changes to our ratings likely would make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our common stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate widely. Fluctuations in the market price of our Class A common stock could be caused by many things, including:

our perceived prospects and the prospects of the telephone, Internet and data analytics industries in general;

differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts;

changes in analysts' recommendations or projections;

changes in general valuations for communications companies;

adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to our business;

sales of our Class A common stock by our officers, directors or principal stockholders;

sales of significant amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur;

sales of our Class A common stock due to a required divestiture under the terms of our certificate of incorporation; and

changes in general economic or market conditions and broad market fluctuations.

Each of these factors, among others, could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common stock. Recently, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price fluctuations. This volatility has had a substantial effect on the market prices of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to the operating performance of the specific companies. Some companies that have had volatile market prices for their securities have had securities class action suits filed against them. If a suit were to be filed against us, regardless of the outcome, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management's attention and resources. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Table of Contents

Delaware law and provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, and the market price of our Class A common stock may be lower as a result.

We are a Delaware corporation, and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our management or control over us that stockholders may consider favorable. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws:

authorize the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock that could be issued by our Board of Directors to thwart a takeover attempt;

prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise enable holders of less than a majority of our voting securities to elect some of our directors;

establish a classified Board of Directors, as a result of which the successors to the directors whose terms have expired will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting following election; require that directors only be removed from office for cause;

provide that vacancies on the Board of Directors, including newly-created directorships, may be filled only by a majority vote of directors then in office;

disqualify any individual from serving on our board if such individual's service as a director would cause us to violate our neutrality requirements;

4imit who may call special meetings of stockholders;

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all actions to be taken at a meeting of the stockholders; and establish advance notice requirements for nominating candidates for election to the Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In order to comply with our neutrality requirements, our certificate of incorporation contains ownership and transfer restrictions relating to telecommunications service providers and their affiliates, which may inhibit potential acquisition bids that our stockholders may consider favorable, and the market price of our Class A common stock may be lower as a result.

In order to comply with neutrality requirements imposed by the FCC in its orders and rules, no entity that qualifies as a "telecommunications service provider" or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider, as defined under the Communications Act of 1934 and FCC rules and orders, may beneficially own 5% or more of our capital stock. In general, a telecommunications service provider is an entity that offers telecommunications services to the public at large, and is, therefore, providing telecommunications services on a common carrier basis. Moreover, a party will be deemed to be an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider if that party controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, a telecommunications service provider. A party is deemed to control another if that party, directly or indirectly:

owns 10% or more of the total outstanding equity of the other party;

has the power to vote 10% or more of the securities having ordinary voting power for the election of the directors or management of the other party; or

has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of the other party.

As a result of this regulation, subject to limited exceptions, our certificate of incorporation (a) prohibits any telecommunications service provider or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider from beneficially owning, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of our outstanding capital stock and (b) empowers our Board of Directors to determine whether any particular holder of our capital stock is a telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider. Among other things, our certificate of incorporation provides that:

if one of our stockholders experiences a change in status or other event that results in the stockholder violating this restriction, or if any transfer of our stock occurs that, if effective, would violate the 5% restriction, we may elect to

Table of Contents

purchase the excess shares (i.e., the shares that cause the violation of the restriction) or require that the excess shares be sold to a third-party whose ownership will not violate the restriction;

pending a required divestiture of these excess shares, the holder whose beneficial ownership violates the 5% restriction may not vote the shares in excess of the 5% threshold; and

if our Board of Directors, or its permitted designee, determines that a transfer, attempted transfer or other event violating this restriction has taken place, we must take whatever action we deem advisable to prevent or refuse to give effect to the transfer, including refusal to register the transfer, disregard of any vote of the shares by the prohibited owner, or the institution of proceedings to enjoin the transfer.

Any person who acquires, or attempts or intends to acquire, beneficial ownership of our stock that will or may violate this restriction must notify us as provided in our certificate of incorporation. In addition, any person who becomes the beneficial owner of 5% or more of our stock must notify us and certify that such person is not a telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider. If a 5% stockholder fails to supply the required certification, we are authorized to treat that stockholder as a prohibited owner — meaning, among other things, that we may elect to require that the excess shares be sold. We may request additional information from our stockholders to ensure compliance with this restriction. Our board will treat any "group," as that term is defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as a single person for purposes of applying the ownership and transfer restrictions in our certificate of incorporation.

Nothing in our certificate of incorporation restricts our ability to purchase shares of our capital stock. If a purchase by us of shares of our capital stock results in a stockholder's percentage interest in our outstanding capital stock increasing to over the 5% threshold, such stockholder must deliver the required certification regarding such stockholder's status as a telecommunications service provider or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider. In addition, to the extent that a repurchase by us of shares of our capital stock causes any stockholder to violate the restrictions on ownership and transfer contained in our certificate of incorporation, that stockholder will be subject to all of the provisions applicable to prohibited owners, including required divestiture and loss of voting rights.

These restrictions and requirements may:

discourage industry participants that might have otherwise been interested in acquiring us from making a tender offer or proposing some other form of transaction that could involve a premium price for our shares or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders; and

discourage investment in us by other investors who are telecommunications service providers or who may be deemed to be affiliates of a telecommunications service provider, which may decrease the demand for our Class A common stock and cause the market price of our Class A common stock to be lower.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
The following table is a summary of our repurchases of common stock during each of the three months in the quarter ended September 30, 2013:

Month	Total Number of Shares Purchased (1)	Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs (2)(3)	Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs (3)
July 1 through July 31, 2013	639,031	\$51.80	637,850	\$ 158,594,100
August 1 through August 31, 2013	626,386	52.92	624,450	125,536,341
September 1 through September 30, 2013	585,075	51.42	584,150	95,485,046
Total	1,850,492	\$52.06	1,846,450	\$ 95,485,046

The number of shares purchased includes shares of common stock tendered by employees to us to satisfy the (1)employees' minimum tax withholding obligations arising as a result of vesting of restricted stock grants under our stock incentive plan. We purchased these shares for their fair market value on the vesting date.

The difference between the total number of shares purchased and the total number of shares purchased as part of (2) publicly announced plans or programs is 4,042 shares, all of which relate to shares surrendered to us by employees to satisfy the

Table of Contents

employees' tax withholding obligations arising as a result of vesting of restricted stock grants under our incentive stock plans.

On July 28, 2010, we announced the adoption of a share repurchase program. The 2010 program authorized the purchase of up to \$300 million of Class A common shares through Rule 10b5-1 programs, open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise as market conditions warranted, at prices we deemed appropriate. On May 2, 2013, we announced the adoption of a 2013 share repurchase program, which will expire on December 31, 2013. We may purchase up to \$250 million of Class A common shares under the 2013 program, which replaced the 2010 program.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

See exhibits listed under the Exhibit Index below.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NeuStar, Inc.

Date: October 30, 2013 By: /s/ Paul S. Lalljie

Paul S. Lalljie

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer and Duly

Authorized Officer)

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description
3.1	Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 7 to NeuStar's Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed June 28, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 25, 2012.
10.1.6	Amendment to the contractor services agreement entered into the 7th day of November 1997 by and between Neustar, Inc. and North American Portability Management, LLC.*
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

^{*} Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this document. The omitted portions of this document have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.